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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
it is my pleasure to present to you the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together the “"Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023 ("FY2023" or the “period”).

In 2023, with the gradual relaxation of the global pandemic,
the global economic growth weakened markedly. Factors such
as rapid interest rate hikes in the United States, depreciation
of the Renminbi, trade war, Russia-Ukraine and Israeli-
Palestinian geopolitical conflicts and tight global energy supply
have caused rising inflation, high transportation costs and
declining consumption power, which became major challenges
to the global economy. Foreign demand for toys was also
weakening, and the recovery of domestic toy sales did not meet
expectations. However, high-quality products could still help
enterprises achieve stable performance in difficult situations.
In 2023, China’s toy exports amounted to USD40.57 billion,
down 12.2% vyear on year, with negative growth for eight
consecutive months. Even though the toy market in Europe
and America was still vibrant during the Christmas season, and
trendy toys recorded good sales in China during the “Double 11"
shopping festival, the overall consumption was sluggish. Facing
uncertainties at home and abroad, the Group closely monitored
when the European and American economies would regain
momentum. The Company adjusted its business strategy in a
timely manner by outsourcing the production process for most
orders, reducing fixed staff costs and machinery maintenance
costs, and strengthening production management manpower
to ensure the timely delivery of products, but its production
costs increased and gross profit decreased. The Company
has maintained market competitiveness and technological
advantages in research and development during difficult times,
thus achieving the strategic goal of generating income and
saving cost. The Group actively explored emerging markets and
their importers, and reduced the number of customers who rely
on European and American markets for a long time.
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The Group continues to make optimization in various aspects
such as market expansion, brand building, research and
development and innovation, risk management and talent
attraction, so as to improve quality, raise efficiency and enhance
core competitiveness. The Group will improve the plan for talent
team building in terms of product development and production,
and intensify the quality control standards and licensing of
intellectual property rights in different fields of product design,
including smart toy vehicles, toy vehicles non-fungible token,
animation themes, metaverse, virtual reality and augmented
reality, etc., so as to add new elements to innovative smart toy
cars and drive the market to achieve new breakthroughs.

Yu Huang
Chairman
26 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS

BEENWE DN

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group has a vision of becoming a smart interactive
entertainment product provider. The Group is principally engaged
in the design, development, manufacture and sale of high-quality
smart toy vehicles, smart interactive toys and traditional toys
and the sale of smart hardware products.

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately 22.4%
from approximately RMB169.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately RMB131.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023"). The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to the weakening of foreign demand for toys and
the decline in orders from customers who rely on European and
American markets for a long time. In addition, certain stockpiled
raw materials and electronic parts were sold to clients at low
gross profit by the Group during the period, so as to speed
up the inventory turnover, reduce the risk of overstocking and
accelerate the flow of cash.

Analysis of revenue by product type is as follows:

Year ended 31 December
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Smart toys
Smart toy vehicles

The Group's smart toy vehicles increased year on year by
approximately 2.06 times as compared to the same period of the
last year was mainly due to the adjustment of sales strategies
by the Group, that is, developing emerging markets with export-
oriented wholesalers in Hong Kong, in order to capture the
opportunity for diversification, and new customer base in such
regions as well as conduct a rush-release with a lower profit
margin for products mainly comprising of full function radio
controlled toy vehicles, which are manufactured in different
scales. During FY2023, the Group’'s smart toy vehicles were
mostly “kidztech” brand products and co-branded products
collectively released by the Company and renowned automobile
manufacturers. The Group also manufactures under overseas
customers’ brands on original equipment manufacturing
(“OEM") and original design manufacturing (“ODM") bases.

Smart interactive toys

The Group’s smart interactive toys mainly are produced and sold
for under the "kidztech” brand, and comprise smart interactive
playsets, activity toys and musical toys, and some of these
toys which play music and contain play features are intended to
stimulate the sensory development of children. During 2023, the
Group did not record any revenue from smart interactive toys
(during 2022: nil).

Traditional toys

Traditional toys include traditional toy vehicles, traditional
educational toys, dolls and other traditional toys such as outdoor
and sport as well as infant toys. During 2023, the Group did not
record any revenue from traditional toys (during 2022: RMB88.9
million). In light of the quiet domestic retail market and low gross
profit margins in the PRC, the Group suspended the production
and sales of traditional toys until the market conditions improve.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Brands

The Group’s smart toys, traditional toy and smart hardware
products are (i) branded with its “kidztech” brand; (ii)
cobranded with renowned automobile manufacturers, popular
entertainment characters featured in animated television series
or motion pictures or toy brand owner; or (iii) branded under
its overseas customers’ brands, which mainly represent the
products manufactured by the Group on ODM and OEM bases
and the products sold to its customers branded under their
respective brands.

The Group believes that co-branding with other famous brands
allows the Group to leverage on the marketing benefits of the
internationally renowned brands to expediently gain consumer
awareness, and recognition of authenticity, and to establish
creditability and market acceptance from the mass market.
The Group will continue to look for collaboration opportunities
with other well-known brands and apply for licensed rights of
renowned toy and entertainment character in due course to
improve the marketability of our products.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward to 2024, the intricate geopolitical landscape
continues to scale up, the global inflation is worsening in general
and the FED keeps raising its interest rates. All of them have
an adverse impact on global economic resumption. Meanwhile,
global trade and investment may be negatively affected by
uncertainties in trade and energy constraint, and continuous
detrimental actions by hegemonic protectionism from the Europe
and the U.S.A.

The Chinese government encourages major economies to deeply
participate in the global industrial division and cooperation
initiated by the “Belt and Road Initiative”, which facilitates an
emerging development trend in global economy. It is expected
that domestic consumption will become stable and stay positive.
The Group will explore the domestic toy retail market and others
in emerging countries around the “Belt and Road Initiative”
based on experience gained from operating physical stores of
products of its own brands and foreign brands.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group's gross profit decreased from approximately
RMB28.3 million for FY2022 to approximately RMB15.0 million
for FY2023, representing a decrease of approximately 47.0%.
The Group's gross profit margin decreased by approximately
5.3% from approximately 16.7% in FY2022 to approximately
11.4% in FY2023. It was mainly attributable to the increase in
material and the increase in production costs due to outsourced
part of production progress to suppliers/subcontractors, and in
addition, in order to speed up the inventory turnover to reduce
the risk, certain raw materials were sold to suppliers at low
gross profit.

Loss for the year

The Group’s net loss increased from approximately RMB76.7
million for FY2022 to a net loss of approximately RMB98.3
million for FY2023. It was mainly attributable to an increase of
net impairment losses on trade and other receivables.

Selling expenses

The Group's selling expenses increased by approximately 80.3%
from approximately RMBO0.9 million for FY2022 to approximately
RMB1.6 million for FY2023, which was primarily due to the
increase in freight expenses and market expenses.

Administrative expenses

The Group's administrative expenses significantly decreased by
approximately 53.9% from approximately RMB76.1 million in
FY2022 to approximately RMB35.1 million in FY2023, which was
mainly attributable to the absence of the recognition of share-
based payments during the period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Net impairment losses on trade and other
receivables

The Group’'s net impairment losses on trade and other
receivables increased significantly from approximately RMB24
million for FY2022 to approximately RMB40.7 million for FY2023,
representing an increase of approximately 69.6%. It was mainly
because the lifetime expected loss provision for trade and other
receivables increased during the period. For details, please refer
to notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Taxation credit/expense

Taxation expenses of approximately RMB6.9 million in FY2023,
as compared to the taxation credit of approximately RMB5.4
million in FY2022 representing an increase of approximately
RMB12.3 million, which was mainly due to the change of
deferred taxation during the period.

Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’'s gearing ratio, which
represents the Group's total borrowings divided by total
equity, was approximately 42.7% (31 December 2022: 35.1%).
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total borrowings
were approximately RMB143.7 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB139.8 million) and the total equity was
approximately RMB336.9 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB398.4 million). The total borrowings
represent the outstanding loans of the Group. The gearing ratio
of the Group had been stabilised.

The current ratio, which is calculated based on the total current
assets at the respective dates divided by the total current
liabilities at the respective dates, was approximately 1.5 as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: approximately 1.6);
whereas the quick ratio, which is calculated based on the total
current assets (excluding inventories) at the respective dates
divided by the total current liabilities at the respective dates,
was approximately 1.4 as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: approximately 1.5).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB48.9 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB6.2 million).

Working capital

The average inventory turnover period of the Group was
approximately 55.5 days in FY2023 (FY2022: approximately 44.1
days), generally remaining stable.

The Group's trade receivables decreased from approximately
RMB327.5 million as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
RMB247.4 million as at 31 December 2023, which was mainly
due to a decrease of sales of the Group during the period. The
Group's average turnover days of trade receivables increased
from approximately 273.2 days in FY2022 to approximately
332.0 days in FY2023.

The Group's prepayments and other receivables decreased from
approximately RMB173.9 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB137.7 million as at 31 December 2023, which
was mainly attributable to effective and due collection of other
receivables during the period.

The Group’'s trade and other payables decreased by
approximately RMB32.1 million or approximately 19.0% from
approximately RMB168.8 million as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB136.7 million as at 31 December 20283,
mainly due to decrease in sales and relative decrease in the
amount of procurement of raw materials and the repayment
of other payables. The Group's average trade payable turnover
days decreased from approximately 184.4 days in FY2022 to
approximately 173.9 days in FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE D

Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2023, all the bank and other borrowings,
amounting to approximately RMB143.7 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB139.8 million), were repayable on
demand and with fixed interest rate 2.25% to 18.00%. The bank
and other borrowings are predominantly denominated in RMB.

The weighted average effective interest rate as at 31
December 2023 was approximately 7.9% (31 December 2022:
approximately 7.9%).

Significant investments, material acquisitions
and disposal of subsidiaries

The Group did not have any significant investments, material
acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during FY2023.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any other
plans for material investments and capital assets.

Capital structure

The capital structure of the Group is mainly based on the
equity attributable to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) (including share capital and reserves). As at
31 December 2023, the total number of issued ordinary Shares
of the Company was 624,564,000 with a par value of HK$0.001
each (31 December 2022: 520,886,000 Shares). Details of which
are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
as set out in this annual report.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2023, certain bank and other borrowings
of the Group were secured by property, plant and equipment
and restricted cash. Details of which are set out in note 27 to
the consolidated financial statements as set out in this annual
report.

Save for the above, there was no charge on assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent liabilities

The Group did not have any significant contingent liability as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: Nil).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had an aggregate capital
commitment of approximately RMB17.4 million (31 December
2022: approximately RMB17.4 million).

Financial management and treasury policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility
of the Group’s treasury function at its head office. The Group
adopted prudent funding and treasury management policies
while maintaining an overall healthy financial position. The
Group's source of funding was raised by cash generated from
operating activities and bank borrowings. The Group's treasury
policies mainly include managing capital liquidity and vyield to
safeguard the healthy development of the principal businesses
of the Group. The Group regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources
in meeting its financial obligations. The Group is from time to
time considering various alternatives including but not limited
to financial institution borrowings, non-financial institution
borrowings, bonds issuance, etc.

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group’s operating subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
operates with most transactions being settled in US dollars
("USD"), except for certain transactions which are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") or other currencies. The functional
currency of these subsidiaries is USD. The Group’s operating
subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC operate in the PRC
and their functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB"). As at 31
December 2023, foreign exchange risk arose mainly from certain
balances of the operating subsidiaries in Hong Kong which are
denominated in USD. The Directors consider that no significant
foreign exchange risk exists for the Group. The Group currently
does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of
foreign currency transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group
did not use any financial instruments for hedging purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events after the reporting period up to
the date of this report.

USE OF PROCEEDS

Pursuant to placing agreement dated 26 July 2023 which
was completed on 23 August 2023, the Company placed
103,678,000 ordinary shares to not less than six placees
at a placing price of HK$0.35 per placing share and raised
approximately HK$36,287,300 in total gross proceeds. The
net proceeds (after deducting of the placing commission and
other related expenses of the placing) from the placing was
approximately HK$35,765,000 (the “Net Proceeds”).

83.88% of the Net Proceeds (approximately HK$30,000,000)
was used to repay debts of the Group and 16.12% of the net
proceeds (approximately HK$5,765,000) was used as general
working capital of the Company. The use of the Net Proceeds in
accordance with the intended use as disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 August 2023.

The Company has fully utilised the Net Proceeds during the
period.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 23 August 2023.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 27 (2022: 95) full-time
employees, of which, 8 of them were in Hong Kong and the rest
of them were stationed in Shantou and Shenzhen, the PRC. The
significantly decrease of employees was mainly because the
Company outsourced part of production progress to suppliers/
subcontractors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The remuneration packages offered by the Group to its
employees, including salaries, accidental insurance and
allowances, depend on their job nature. Bonuses are generally
discretionary and based in part on employee performance and
in part on the overall performance of the Group's business. The
Group has implemented training programmes for its employees
to meet different job requirements, such as training on
production procedures for its staff at its production department.
It is believed that these initiatives have contributed to the
increased productivity of employees of the Group. The Group
has also adopted a share option scheme to reward, among
others, its employees for their contribution to the Group (the
“Share Option Scheme"), details of which are set out in the
section headed “Share Option Scheme” below of this annual
report.

As required by the relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Group
has participated in housing fund and various employee social
security plans that are organised by applicable local municipal
and provincial governments, including housing, pension, medical,
work-related injury and unemployment benefit plans, under
which contributions were made at specified percentages of the
salaries of its employees. Bonuses are generally discretionary
and based in part on employee performance and in part on the
overall performance of its business.

The Group has arranged for its employees in Hong Kong to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”)
managed by an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme,
the Group's company in Hong Kong (the employer) and its
employees make monthly contributions to the scheme at 5%
of the employees’ earnings as defined under the Mandatory
Provident Fund legislation. The monthly contributions of each
of the Group’'s companies and its employees are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter contributions are voluntary. The
Group’s contributions to the defined contribution scheme are
expensed as incurred and not reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the plans prior to vesting fully in
the contributions.
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OUTLOOK

With the aim of further developing its business and continuing
its growth and also taking into account the development of
the current situation and the material changes in the global
geopolitics environment as well as the international order, the
Group will implement the following strategies:
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continue to prioritise and focus on overseas market by
(i) maintaining and strengthening relationship with its
existing direct overseas customers; and (ii) staying alert
to the epidemic, while expanding the customer base and
continuing to prioritise and focus on Chinese market;

continue to strengthen, expand and diversify its customer base
by focusing on (i) the Hong Kong and PRC Export — Oriented
Wholesalers; and (i) the PRC retailers;

diversify its product offerings through continuous
development of new products and global licensing strategy;

expand its production capacity through outsourced part
of production progress to suppliers/sub-contractors and
improve its production efficiency; and

allocate more resources to expand sales of domestic and
emerging Asian markets.
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CORPORATE

BLEZERERAT

GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the
importance of sound corporate governance to the long-term
success and continuing development of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards
and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system and
transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create value
for Shareholders.

During FY2023, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) in Part 2 of Appendix C1
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), save and except the deviation
as follows:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Yu Huang is currently
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of
the Group. Mr. Yu Huang has been responsible for the overall
management of the Group since the establishment of the
Group. The Board believes that the current structure enables the
Group to make and implement business decisions swiftly and
effectively which promotes the Group’s development in line with
other strategies and business direction. The Board considers
that the balance of power and authority, accountability and
independent decision-making under the present arrangement
will not be impaired because of the diverse background and
experience of the executive Directors, non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Directors. Further, the audit
committee (the "Audit Committee”), which consists of
independent non-executive Directors, has free and direct access
to the Company's external auditors and independent professional
advisers when it considers necessary. Therefore, the Directors
consider that the deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is appropriate in such circumstance. In order to
maintain good corporate governance and to fully comply with
the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly
review the need to appoint different individuals to perform
the roles of chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
separately.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of the
shareholders and investors.
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Board of Directors

The Board is directly, and indirectly through its various
committees (the “"Board Committees”), responsible for the
overall management of the business of the Group, formulating
the Group’'s overall strategic direction and maintaining
appropriate levels of supervision, challenge and guidance in
its relationship with the management. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for
the day-to-day management and administration of the Group.
The Board is provided with updates from the management to
give a balanced and easily understandable assessment of the
performance, recent development and prospects of the Group
on a regular basis.

The Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all
matters considered material to the Group and discharge its
responsibilities on corporate governance either by itself or the
Board Committees set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code which include the following:

L to develop and review the policies and practice
on corporate governance of the Group and make
recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3. toreview and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code

and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.
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Composition of The Board

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors,
including two executive Directors, one non-executive Director
and three independent non-executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Qiang

Non-executive Director

Ms. Zheng Jingyun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. He Weidong
Ms. Wang Shiling
Mr. Gong Lan

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 34 to 36 of this annual report.

In compliance with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing not less than one-third
of the Board and at least one of whom has the appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his/her independence, and the Company considers that as at
the date of this annual report such Directors are independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there are no other
relationship (including financial, business, family, and other
material/relevant relationships) among the members of the
Board as of the date of this report.
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Board Diversity

The Board admits that board diversity is increasingly important
as a factor to enhance corporate governance and promote
board effectiveness. The current Board composition is well
balanced with each Director having skills, experience and
expertise relevant to the business operations, development
and strategy of the Group and from a variety of backgrounds.
Furthermore, as at the date of this report, the Board has a wide
range of age, ranging from 36 years old to 61 years old, and has
achieved gender diversity by having four male Directors and two
female Directors. The Board is well balanced and diversified
in education, professional background, functional expertise,
gender, age, culture and industrial experience.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy which sets
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board and the
factors (including but not limited to skills, regional and industry
experience, professional experience, background, education,
race, gender, age, culture and other qualities, etc.) to be
considered in determining the composition of the Board so
as to ensure the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to
support the execution of its business strategy and to maximise
the Board’'s effectiveness. The Board will review the Board
diversity policy on a regular basis to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

After reviewing the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, the Company considers that it has been effectively
implemented. As of 31 December 2023, the Company has
achieved the following measurable objectives set out in the
Board Diversity Policy:

° There is at least one female member in the Board: As of 31
December 2023, the Board has two female members and
four male members, allowing the Company to achieve the
gender diversity of the Board at 33.3%.

° There should be a reasonable age structure among
members of the Board: As of 31 December 2023, members
of the Board have a reasonable age structure, with four
directors aged 35 to 50 and two directors aged 51 to 61.

° Members of the Board should possess relevant
professional experience: As of 31 December 2023,
members of the Board possess wide range of professional
experience, including but not limited to corporate strategic
planning, corporate management, finance and financial
affairs.
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The Board considers that the current gender diversity above
is satisfactory, and committed to further improving gender
diversity as and when suitable candidates are identified. For
further details, please refer to our ESG Report.

The Company has implemented appropriate recruitment
and selection procedures to provide career development
opportunities for suitable female candidates. The Directors are
of the view that this will help develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.

The Company is also committed to a work environment that is
both diverse and inclusive, where all colleagues feel respected
and empowered to bring their authentic selves to work every
day. Similar considerations are applied when recruiting and
selecting member of the senior management and other
personnel across the Group’s operations. As at 31 December
2023, 38% of our colleagues are female. For details, please
refer to our ESG Report.

Board Process and Meetings

The Board meets regularly to determine overall strategies,
receive management updates, approve business plans as well
as interim and annual results and to consider other significant
matters. Special Board meetings are convened as and when
needed. The management also provides updates to the Board
with respect to the business activities and development of the
Group at these meetings on a regular basis.

Each Director ensures that he/she can give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the
Group’s development through his/her constructive and informed
comments. All the members of the Board disclose and update
their number and nature of offices held and time involved on a
regular basis.
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The Board held 5 meetings during FY2023 for discussing and BEEF €W - E - =B HFEZHMEH
approving the operation and business development of the HAX @ #H i m i AR RKNEE
Company, including without limitation, change in auditors, R EHKHE G BREETEREHLZ
financial budget and financial statements of the Company. The Z(Ef - Bf & 78 & Kk A R 7 8 81 7% 3
attendance of each Director at Board and committee meetings * - S EEHFARANEZTSREE
of the Company, whether in person or by means of electronic ©€#H(TwmBESHIUESFBREIR)
communication, is detailed in the table below: HERFHNTE:

Attendance/No. of meetings held during FY2023
HERE /R-Z-_-HHREENERERRE

Annual
Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting

Exg ®/RKZEEE HFHWZEEE REZEE RRBEAE

Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Yu Huang RIEFHE 5/5 = = n mn
Mr. Zhu Qiang KEEHE 5/5 — mn n 1N
Non-executive Director FHTES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BHExt 5/5 — — — mn
Independent Non- BYKHTES

executive Directors
Mr. He Weidong MER %4 5/5 4/4 11 n 11
Ms. Wang Shiling Frrt 5/5 4/4 mn n n
Mr. Gong Lan BREE 5/5 4/4 mn ”n i
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Terms of Appointment and Re-Election of
Directors

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service contract
with the Company and each independent non-executive
Director and the non-executive Director has signed a letter
of appointment. The said service contracts and letters of
appointment are for an initial term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, subject to re-election in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) and
termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, one-third of the Directors
shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting and every Director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least every three years. However, a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. Any Director who is appointed by
the Board to fill the casual vacancy and any Director appointed
by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold
office only until the first general meeting after his appointment
and the next following annual general meeting of the Company
respectively and shall be eligible for re-election pursuant to
Article 83(3) of the Articles.

As such, Mr. Zhu Qiang and Ms. Wang Shiling will retire from
office as Director, and being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles.

Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions
by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code of
conduct regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by
the Directors and the Group's senior management who, because
of his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside
information in relation to the Group or the Company’s securities.
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the Model Code during FY2023. In addition,
the Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model
Code by the senior management of the Group during FY2023.
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Directors’ Training and Professional
Development

The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing
professional development for the Directors to extend and
refresh their knowledge and skills. Each Director keeps abreast
of responsibilities as a Director and of the conduct, business
activities and development of the Company.

Pursuant to the requirements of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills, and should
provide their training records to the Company. According to the
training records provided by the Directors, the trainings attended
by them during FY2023 are summarised as follows:

EERIIREXRR

AEEREHREEXBRRYEESEN
BREMAMNBERENERE - %
EEHRTERARRESENEME -
WA EEARANIRT EBKED
MEBERE -

N
v N

ST R
B2HEFBEEXER BRYLEHN
HORE N PR - IR AR QA g
HiFdlao &k - RIFEF R H &
iR BER-_T_=UHRFEMZ
EREI BT

REGXEARTRMRE MBES

Corporate Governance,
Regulatory
Development

and Trainings on

other relevant topics

CEELR EERER
Directors = Hib AH B AR 53
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yu Huang RIER A& 4
Mr. Zhu Qiang KR 5 A v
Non-executive Director FHITES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun B E T 4
Independent Non-executive BYEHITES

Directors )

Mr. He Weidong Al BT R A& v
Ms. Wang Shiling Fi iRzt v
Mr. Gong Lan BEREAE v

Board Committees

The Board has established three Board Committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee
(the "Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular
aspects of the Group’'s affairs. All Board Committees were
established with written terms of reference in compliance with
the relevant code provisions of the CG Code, which are available
at the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.kidztech.net).
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of the following members:
Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Gong Lan* (Chairman)
Ms. Wang Shiling
Mr. He Weidong

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others,
to make recommendation to the Board on appointment or
reappointment and removal of external auditor; review financial
statements of the Company and judgments in respect of
financial reporting; review the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function; and oversee the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group.

As disclosed above, during FY2023, 4 Audit Committee
meetings were held to review and discuss with the management
and the external auditor in respect of the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, reviewing the results for
FY2022 and unaudited interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2023, reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal audit function, as well as the reviewing the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the following
members:

Independent non-executive Directors:
Ms. Wang Shiling (Chairlady)

Mr. He Weidong

Mr. Gong Lan

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhu Qiang

EERRE

BEREEY
BREEBGMATREMEM:
BIFRTES:

BELELE (£E)
FRkt
MERELE
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2R ERE R ERRK -

YMEES
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BIUFATES:
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KRBT E
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The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management
of the Group and ensure that none of the Directors or any of
their associates determine their own remuneration as well as to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

As disclosed above, during FY2023, 1 Remuneration Committee
meeting was held to determine the policy for the remuneration
of executive Directors, assessing performance of executive
Directors and approving the terms of executive Directors’ service
contracts, and reviewing and/or approving material matters
relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules
(including any potential grant of share options).

ﬂﬂH

FHZEemITEREANAKE
PREERSHREEE O S EFH
BRELRBREFSRHEZSE  ®
1%%?%?11{17 FRATB2EE
TECHFMURRE EmHRANE
17%%@5&/‘2%&/&5@1&1 iHElA
FEIHE -

LN _E SR F_;::%ﬁif

TMEzE =R ﬁ—w BT
WITESHEH B EK %%ﬁ“é
EMNRETHERNTESRBELD
RIER  ARIBIE EWAREI7TER
BRk /St EEBRGTEBEEEX
FEHEEFWEEERERD) -

The Remuneration Committee determined the annual HMZESRELEMRR - EFiH
remuneration of executive Directors and member of the senior B ST EENSLEHEE
management based on the economic situation, the prevailing ABRENBEULRFESHME AR
market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by IREFHITEEZLRSAETEREBAE
each executive Director and member of the senior management K F % - HFW T E S E B L RITE
as well as their individual performance. The Remuneration ZFSHEEBAENHHNEFERN
Committee subsequently made recommendations to the ZE&@REEZ - BEBELEEAT
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors Bl & 57 Al 1§ Y FEIBE  —_FT==
and member of the senior management. Pursuant to the code ,\7f BEERSEREINSREEA
provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual remuneration of the B/ F % ZZD—I—
member of senior management by band for FY2023 is set out
below:

Number of individuals

A8

Emolument bands B < % &
Nil to HKD1,000,000 Z %1,000,0007% 7T 1
Nomination Committee BEEES
The Nomination Committee consists of the following members: BRzEE2em A TR S 8K :
Independent non-executive Directors: B IEHITES
Mr. He Weidong (Chairman) A] & 55 4 (£ )
Ms. Wang Shiling Fitr$s 4+
Mr. Gong Lan B S A
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Executive Directors:

Mr. Yu Huang
Mr. Zhu Qiang

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually,
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on matters
relating to appointment and reappointment of Directors.

To enhance the nomination process for a Director candidate, a
nomination policy was adopted during FY2023 as a guidance
on the selection process and Board succession planning.
The Nomination Committee will utilise various methods for
identifying Director candidates, including recommendations
from the Board members, management, and professional
search firms and may review resume and job history, conduct
personal interviews and verification of professional and personal
references or perform the background checks, etc. On evaluation
of the Director candidates including incumbents and candidates
nominated by the Shareholders, the Board and the Nomination
Committee will take into account whether a candidate has the
qualifications, skills and experience, gender diversity, etc. that
can add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of the existing Directors and may consider the
following qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a
Director candidate for recommendation to the Board, or the
continued service of the existing Director:

° the highest personal and professional ethics and integrity;

° proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s field
and the ability to exercise sound business judgment;

° skills that are complementary to those of the existing

Board;

° the ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

° an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities that is
required of a member of the Board and the commitment
of time and energy necessary to diligently carry out those
responsibilities; and

° independence as required by the Listing Rules.
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The Board and the Nomination Committee will also make
reference to the Board diversity policy, details of which are set
out in the section headed “Board Diversity” above.

The Board has established effective mechanisms, including
regular assessments of the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors to ensure independent views and input
are available to the Board.

As disclosed above, during FY2023, one Nomination Committee
meetings were held to review the structure of the Board and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and proposed appointment and re-appointment of
Directors.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Pak Lun. Please refer to the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report for their biographical information. Mr. Chan
have confirmed that he has attended no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules in FY2023.

Mr. Yu Huang, an executive director of the Company, is the
primary corporate contact person of the Company.

Directors’ and External Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair of the state of
affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements which
give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that appropriate
accounting policies should be selected and applied consistently.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company
acknowledging their reporting responsibilities on the financial
statements is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report”
contained in this annual report.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management
of the Group and has full authority to maintain the soundness
and effectiveness of the internal control system and risk
management procedures of the Group to ensure efficient and
effective use of the Group's resources to assist the Group in
achieving its operation objectives, safeguarding the Group's
assets and ensuring compliance with laws and regulations.

The Group emphasizes the importance of a sound internal
control system which is also indispensable for mitigating the
Group's key risk exposures. The Group’'s system of internal
control is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational systems
and fulfillment of the business objectives. The internal control
system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Board in order to
make it practical and effective in providing reasonable assurance
in relation to protection of material assets and Shareholders’
interests. During the year under review, an external independent
consultant has reviewed the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group. The Group has adopted a
three-tier risk management approach to identify, assess and
manage different types of risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and
monitoring risk associated with each business or transaction.
The management, as the second line of defence, defines rule
sets and models, provides technical support, develops new
system and oversees portfolio management. It ensures risks are
within an acceptable range and that the first line of defence is
effective. As the third line of defense, the external independent
consultant assists the review of the first and second lines of
defence. The Group is committed to the identification, evaluation
and management of risks associated with its business activities
through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering
the likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group
has implemented an effective control system which includes
a defined management structure with limits of authority, a
sound management system and periodic review of the Group’s
performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

The Group follows strict procedures for handling and
disseminating inside information to ensure its confidentiality.

For FY2023, the external independent consultant, engaged to
review the Group’s internal control systems and recommend
actions to improve our internal controls, has provided written
reports to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has
also reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience, training and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions on an annual basis. Based on
the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was generally effective.
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Based on the above, the Board has conducted a review of
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system of the Group pursuant to D.2.1 of the CG Code, covering
the material financial, operational and compliance controls, and
considers them generally effective and adequate in all material
respects. With a view of further enhancing the Group’'s internal
control system on an ongoing basis, the Group will continue to
engage external professional advisers to conduct reviews and
consider to establish a formal in-house internal audit department
where necessary from time to time, taking into account the
development of the business and the scale and complexity of
our operation in the future.

Change of Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 11 January 2021 and Zhonghui Anda
CPA Limited was appointed as the new auditor of the Company
with effect from 13 January 2021 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of PricewaterhouseCoopers. Zhonghui
Anda CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 24 February 2023 and McMillan Woods (Hong
Kong) CPA Limited was appointed as the new auditor of the
Company with effect from 24 February 2023 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Zhonghui Anda CPA
Limited.

Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 13
January 2021 and 24 February 2023 for details of the above
changes of auditors. Save as disclosed above, there was no
change of auditor during the past three financial years.

30

ERNELRER EFCCREBELE
ERTRAED2IMEHALEENER
EEMNAMEERGOHARIEET
e BREBEAUK ZEREAER
ER YR/ARFEHERTEAN
HEABUERRED REBE—F
MBEAEENABEZRR XK
B AR R B R X H B R A R 3R
SENRBEEEE BENEZ
FEFETRILIBEENLE
RZZIEARAREEEBFT -

BB AT B

BRARMKERTMEBAMOBES
REZHBE—B - BT -_—%—H
THEEN MPERESE
EHEMERRRAEZERARARAZ
MEREE a2 =—F—A+=
BER  NEMEXHKESF
MEBMBERZBREZR- PE
RESHMEHFMERAACE T
ARBZEEM—B BT -_=F_
A-t+HBERER mEF(FRE)E
AAMEBAARAFNEZERAR
Az EZEE BT _=F_H
“tmMERER AERTELES
AHEMEE AR AR B ER ZRE

7o °
-

ERLERZEMEBHNFEE F2
MARNRHEBA-_ZTE-_—F—AF+=
AR E-_=ZF_A-F+HHEMRE -
ML EEN RBE =@
FETEZEEMES -



“ToZFHR FIEZERARAA

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Auditor’'s Remuneration

For FY2023, the fee paid or payable in respect of the services
provided by the auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA
Limited, is as follows:

EERRE

BB &

R-ZB_=UREE AEBOEE
(BER)EHMEBMERARMIE
HERBENXELNERDOT

Amount
ok
RMB'000
AREF T

Audit services E %R

1,000

Interim report review service FHSREERRS 100

Total 4Bt

1,100

Shareholders’ Rights and Investor Relations

The Board values the communications with the Shareholders.
As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’
interests and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at
Shareholders’ meeting on each substantial issue including the
re-election of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at
the Shareholders’ meeting will be conducted by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.kidztech.net).

Notice of the next annual general meeting of the Company will
be sent to the Shareholders not less than 21 days before the
said meeting.

BREREANR IR EERE

EEeERERENER -EAH
F—EREREEDS RER 2 E i
ARFIRBEACLERBEEREEH
(BIEERENER)REB L AE
Ko-RBELTRE  RBERERKEGE
REZFHFERBZRHUKREFTAEX
R RBEBRALERE T E DA
48 uh (www.hkexnews.hk) & 728 A &) 43
Uk (www.kidztech.net) °

ARA TEBRRBFAEEHBA

BREREZMTPDR2IBHEXT
PR -

31



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

Procedures and Right for Shareholders to
Convene Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") are subject to
the Articles, and the applicable legislation and regulations, in
particular the Listing Rules:

1. if any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company submit a written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company
by post to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Room 802, 8/F, Inter-Continental Plaza, 94
Granville Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong
with full name, contact details and identification provided
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition; and

2. the Board should within 21 days from the date of the
deposit for the requisition proceed duly to convene the
EGM to be held within two months after the deposit
of such requisition. If the Board fails to do so, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 58 of the
Articles for further details.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions under the Articles of Association or
the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands regarding procedures for
shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings other
than a proposal of a person for election as director. Shareholders
may follow the procedures set out above to convene an
extraordinary general meeting for any business specified in such
written requisition.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person
for Election as a Director of the Company

If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at
the general meeting convened to deal with the appointment or
election of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election as
a Director at that meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room
802, 8/F, Inter-Continental Plaza, 94 Granville Road, Tsim Sha
Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the company
secretary of the Company. Detailed procedures for Shareholders
to propose a person for election as a Director of the Company can
be found on the Company’s website (www.kidztech.net).

Investors Relations

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels
including general meetings, press releases, announcements and
corporate communications such as the annual report, interim
report and circulars. Latest news and updates of the Group's
business and operation are also available on the Company's
website (www.kidztech.net).

The Company has adopted a Shareholders’ communication
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors
and all stakeholders of the Company are welcomed. Enquiries
to the Board or the Company must be deposited at or sent by
post to the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong
at Room 802, 8/F, Inter-Continental Plaza, 94 Granville Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong with full name, contact
details and identification provided.

Any person having any enquiries in relation to the shareholdings,
share transfer or registration of the Company may contact the
Company's share registrar. Their contact details can be found on
the Company’s website (www.kidztech.net).

During FY2023, the Company reviewed and considers that the
Shareholders communication policy was effectively implemented
with the above measures in place.

Constitutional Documents

During FY2023, the Company has amended its Articles, the
details of which are set out in the circular of the Company
dated 31 May 2023. The Shareholders have approved the
amendments to the Articles at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 28 July 2023. The latest version of the
Articles is available at the websites of the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.kidztech.net).
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Directors

EEEBEE

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (%48), aged 43, founded the Group through
the establishment of Shantou Chenghai Jinjun Toys Co., Ltd.*
(LEmEEEBEITABRAA) in June 2009. Mr. Yu is
the chairman, executive Director, chief executive officer and
controlling shareholder of the Company. He was appointed as a
Director in October 2019 and was re-designated as an executive
Director in November 2019.

Mr. Yu has over 12 years of experience in the toy manufacturing
and sale industry. Prior to the establishment of the Group, Mr.
Yu worked as the deputy general manager of Shantou Chenghai
Changxing Paper Foil Co., Ltd.* GLEMESE S EHKBER
‘A A]) from July 2004 to March 2007 and the general manager
of Shantou Chenghai Jinjun Toys Factory* (|l 58 ™ & )& [& &%
S Ir B W), which is primarily engaged in toy manufacturing,
from March 2007 to June 2009. Mr. Yu graduated from the
Guangdong Justice Police Vocational College* (/& & 7] /% Z B B
¥ Z03) in the PRC and was awarded a professional diploma in
law.

Mr. Zhu Qiang (% &), aged 36, was appointed as an executive
Director, a member of each of the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee of the Company on 23
March 2022. Mr. Zhu is majoring in information security and
management at The Open University of China, and obtained
a master's degree in business administration from the Anglia
Ruskin University in the United Kingdom in October 2023. Mr.
Zhu has extensive experience in financial leasing and industrial
investment and financing management, and is experienced
in employing financial tools in combination with traditional
businesses. Mr. Zhu was the deputy general manager of
Zhongyue International Financial Leasing (Shenzhen) Co.,

Ltd* (FERHBEMEBRECRINBRAAF) from July 2016 to
September 2018, primarily responsible for rlsk management of
finance lease assets, and the general manager of Wing Hang
International Capital Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (kT B &
A B R Y1) B BR A A]) from October 2018 to January 2022.
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Non-executive Director

Ms. Zheng Jingyun (& E), aged 49, was appointed as a
non-executive Director in November 2019. Ms. Zheng is mainly
responsible for advising on business strategy of the Group. She
joined the Group in April 2016 and was a director of Kidztech
Intelligent from April 2016 to October 2019.

Ms. Zheng was an executive director and a general manager of
various private companies.

Ms. Zheng graduated from Chengcheng Vocational and Technical
School* (& ¥ B % £ flr # 2) in the PRC.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. He Weidong ({1 & &) (formerly known as He Jinghui ({i] &
##£)), aged 61, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2020. He was an independent director of
Kidztech Intelligent from September 2017 to October 2019.

Mr. He has over 20 years of experience in corporate and
investment management. He held management positions
at China Network Communications Co., Ltd. (B #8 4% & 1=
B B 2 7)) (which was merged with China United Network
Communloat|ons Group Co., Ltd. later) and CNC Kuandai
Network Co., Ltd* (BB EH B E AR EE A7) He is
currently a shareholder, an executive director and a general
manager of various private companies.

Mr. He obtained a Bachelor of Radio Engineering degree from
the Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t &
#E RNE) in the PRC, and an Executive Master of Business
Administration diploma from the Tsinghua University (/& % X
&) in the PRC. He obtained the “qualification as an independent
director of listed companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in 2018.

Ms. Wang Shiling ( £ tf 85 ), aged 40, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director, the chairlady of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company on
31 August 2021. She has over 10 years of experience in financial
management and risk control. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Wang worked in a number of investment and financial industry
companies. She has been the director of risk management of
Shenzhen City Guoan Yitong Investment Co., Ltd.* (&3l =
ZEBIREAR AT since August 2017. Ms. Wang obtained
a Bachelor’'s degree in International Trade from the Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies in the Guangdong Province of the
PRC in December 2007.
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Mr. Gong Lan (283%), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the Audit Committee,
and a member of each of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 23 March 2022.
Mr. Gong graduated from Shanghai Lixin University of Accounting
and Finance (formerly known as Lixin Accounting College) in
1994, majoring in foreign-related accounting, and obtained the
qualification of Chinese certified public accountant in 1999.

Mr. Gong has over 20 years of financial management experience in
various industries including trading, industrial and investment. From
1990 to 2005, he served as the internal audit and taxation officer
of Donghao Lansheng Exhibition Group Co., Ltd.* (R&EEE
BEBERMARAT) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange with stock code: 600826, formerly known as Shanghai
Lansheng Co., Ltd.* (E/B@EERMABMR AR and the financial
manager of its subsidiary, Datang Lansheng Communication and
Navigation Technology Co., Ltd* (KE B A BEEME A
FR A 7]). Mr. Gong served as the financial manager of Shanghai
Shanshan Xinmingda Industrial Co., Ltd.* (E 8 HAEETE£E
fR 2 &) from January 2006 to May 2012 and the financial manager
of Shanghai Ganyuan Trading Co., Ltd.* (F /B2 BRESER A
Al) from May 2012 to January 2021. He has been serving as the
financial manager of Shanghai Ruiyixiang Industrial Co., Ltd.* (_E
BEEZZETEABMRAT) (formerly known as Shanghai Ruiyixiang
Trading Co., Ltd.* (E /8B L= E 5 AR A7) since March 2021.

Senior Management

Mr. Yu Huang (R #8), aged 43, is currently the chief executive
officer of the Company. For his biographical details, please refer
to the section headed “Executive Directors” above.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Pak Lun (BR#8 B), is currently a solicitor at the law
firm of DeHeng Law Offices (Hong Kong) LLP in Hong Kong,
specialising in corporate finance work including initial public
offerings, mergers and acquisitions and restructuring. Mr.
Chan is a practising solicitor in the field of commercial and
corporate finance and was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong
in December 2018. He completed the bachelor of laws degree
programme at The University of Hong Kong in December
2015. He is also serving as the company secretary of Plateau
Treasures Limited (stock code: 8402), whose shares are listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors hereby present their report and audited
consolidated financial statements for FY2023.

Principal Activities and Business Review

The Group is principally engaged in the design, development,
manufacture and sale of high-quality smart toy vehicles,
smart interactive toys and traditional toys. The products of the
Group are manufactured on an original brand manufacturing,
ODM and OEM bases, and are (i) branded with the Group's
“kidztech” brand; (ii) cobranded with (a) renowned automobile
manufacturers, (b) popular entertainment characters featured in
animated television series or motions pictures or (c) toy brand
owner; and (iii) branded under the Group’s overseas customers’
brands, which mainly represent the products the Group
manufactures on an ODM and OEM bases and the products sold
to the Group’s customers branded under their respective brands.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in
note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

For discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), including a fair review of business,
important events to the business and an indication of likely
future developments in the Group's business, can be found in
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 6 to 16 of this annual report.

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group's performance for FY2023 by operating
segment is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for FY2023 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 96 of
this annual report.

Declaration of dividends was subject to the discretion of the
Directors, depending on the results of operation, working
capital and cash position, future business and earnings, capital
requirements, contractual restrictions under the bank loan
agreements, if any, as well as any other factors which the
Directors might consider relevant. In addition, declaration and
payment as well as the amount of the dividends would be
subject to the provisions of the Articles and the applicable laws
of the Cayman Islands.

38

EFEUNRERSFAR-_ZE-_ZUR
FEHNBRENBELGEMBRER -

FREHREZORE
AEBEIBR M BE RS

EromEEfEE Beogdmin
ANEHFITA- K'EIE’JEDDLM?
Mm% - ODMEOEME R & 3%
P%'Ak’ilfﬁiiJEuﬁﬁﬂﬁ’\]E‘EEu:
(@ MBRERER bHES
ZEFJ%‘XEE%F&WLE’JUM?Z@%
BRI MAREEEABENE S
mEER & III)T§)5H$/§./§9|\%j
FHRE(EZEEARAEEINODMK
OEMERZEMNER)NER UK
EFAEERFFARFSERERN
ER WBRIEZTZEEKFBIERN
bRE MRS IR &MY FE37 -

RIS B LB E622F (R A& 6 M
ROMEHZFRDZA MBI
BRAVFENXHR XHEMNEKRE
fFIA R AN SR B R 75 R R AT BE 3 R 1)
B BERAFEHMECEICHH
BB am DT —&f -

7 #RE
AEER T —HERFERER
SHBEPWRADHRREEHH
|EM S -

EBERRE

AEB-_ZT-_=-UBRFENEESH
RAFMFICEMGELER=EE ©
?ﬁ‘j’”%&**%%ﬁ = ﬁ%&fﬁﬁﬂk
iR‘EI?é%i‘%&%ﬂ §$ﬁ*ﬁ:ﬁ&§ﬁ<

TERBRTHSORS (ME) -
REZEAER 7%@?%5’]&{7&1@.
EME ° s B - IRNRE AR
REERAXERMANMAEHS
BRRERBREMMR -



The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for FY2023 (FY2022: Nil).

Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five years, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 180 of this annual
report.

An analysis using key financial performance indicators can be
found in section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis”
on pages 6 to 16 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements during FY2023 in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of movements during FY2023 in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company's reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders, calculated in accordance with
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles
amounted to approximately RMB304,197,000. Details of the
movements in the reserves of the Group during FY2023 are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Equity Linked Agreement

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” below, no equity-linked agreement was entered into
by the Group, or existed during FY2023.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company conditionally adopted the Share Option Scheme
on 13 February 2020, so as to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to
the Group. Given that the Directors are entitled to determine
any performance targets to be achieved as well as the minimum
period that an option must be held before an option can be
exercised on a case by case basis, and that the exercise price
of an option cannot in any event fall below the price stipulated
in the Listing Rules or such higher price as may be fixed by the
Directors, it is expected that grantees of an option will make
an effort to contribute to the development of the Group to
bring about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalise on the benefits of the options granted.

The Directors may, at its absolute discretion, grant options to
any of the following classes of participants: (a) any employee
(whether full-time or part-time including any executive director
but excluding any non-executive director) of the Company,
any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”)
in which any member of the Group holds an equity interest
("Eligible Employee”); (b) any non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors of the Company,
any of the subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (c) any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (d) any customer of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (e) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any
securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant
to any area of the business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any other
group or classes of participants who have contributed or may
contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and growth of the
Group.
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The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose,
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company) to be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue on
the Listing Date, being 52,000,000 Shares, which represented
approximately 8.33% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this
annual report. The total number of Shares issued and which may
fall to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including both exercised or outstanding options)
to each grantee in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of
the number of Shares in issue for the time being. Any further
grant of options in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject to
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such grantee and
his associates abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined at the discretion of the
Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet for trade in one or more board lots of the
Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which must be a
business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option within
21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

Unless there is an early termination of the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period which may
not expire later than of 10 years commencing on the date on
which the Share Option Scheme is adopted and shall expire on
12 February 2030. The period during which an option may be
exercised will be determined by the Directors in their absolute
discretion, save that no option shall be exercised later than 10
years from the date of grant, subject to early termination of the
Share Option Scheme pursuant to the rules of the Share Option
Scheme. Unless otherwise determined by the Directors and
stated in the offer for the grant of options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Share Option Scheme for
the holding of an option before it can be exercised.
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On 21 June 2022, the Board granted 52,000,000 options to
certain employees of the Group at an exercise price of HK$1.17
per share under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the total number
of options available for grant under the scheme limit of the
Share Option Scheme were 0 share and 0 share respectively,
representing 0% and 0% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
this annual report respectively. The number of Shares that may
be issued in respect of options granted under the Share Option
Scheme represented approximately 8.33% of the issued Shares
of FY2023. There is no maximum entitlement for each eligible
participant under the Share Option Scheme and as at the date
of this annual report, no selected grantee has been granted
share options exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

During FY2023, movements of options granted under the Share

R-E-_—_F#XA=-+—H ' RE
EREE Bk E&R117
BILOTEERAEBEETEERD
52,000,000 & A% #& -

R_BE-_=ZF—A—HRZZE-_=F
+ZA=+—H8 BREBEREFEE
T2 &8 ERAOATE LA SRR
H o Rl B RO - o Bk A& F 3R
BERE 2T M BI0% M0% ° iR 1% B#
IR ENERETEZITH
BHBEE S _ZUBRFENE R
ﬁﬂxf‘i’w 33% - RIEEREETE -

EERSBEAETERBLER R
ZKEeF&El/Hﬁ BELR AR AR
BYPHREBARABEEITRA1% M E
A& #E o

R-ZF_-—UREE REBRE

Option Scheme are set out below: @‘J ?* ﬁ ol g g R - D A
Approximate
percentage
of the issued
Outstanding Exercised Lapsed Cancelled Outstanding as share capital as
Category of as at Granted during during during at 31 December at 31 December
participants  Exercise Price  1January 2023 during FY2023 FY2023 FY2023 FY2023 2023 2023 Note
RZBZZ%
R-FzzE RZ%=Zf +ZA=+-8
-B-B  RZBZ=  W-8I= KZEZ= RIBZZ +ZASt-R AMERGRA
SHERR k| AR HEEERE HBEEGR HREEAN UHEEZE WA BAt fi
Employees HK$1.17 52,000,000 0 0 0 0 52,000,000 8.33% (1)
[E& TR
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Note: (1)

The options were granted on 21 June 2022 by the Company
and are exercisable for 10 years from the date of grant (i.e.
21 June 2022 to 20 June 2032 (both days inclusive)). The
options granted were vested immediately upon grantees’
acceptance of such options. These options are exercisable
at HK$1.17. The closing price of the Shares immediately
before the date on which the options were granted was
HK$1.17. The options were granted after the market closed
on 20 June 2022 on which the closing price was HK$1.15.
The average closing price of five trading days preceding the
vesting of the options was HK$1.17 per share. The options
granted were not subject to satisfaction of any performance
target. Please refer to note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for FY2023 for the fair value
of such options at the date of grant and the accounting
standard and policy adopted. No options were exercised
during FY2023 and 52,000,000 options were vested. There
were no cancellation or lapse of the options during FY2023.
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Disclosure of Interests

(N

44

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares, Underlying
Shares or Debentures

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions
of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in
the shares, the underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including the
interest or short positions which any such Director or
chief executive was taken or deemed to have under such
provision of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, have been entered in the register referred to
therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model Code, notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

(N

Number of the

EERBSTBRAERRKRE -
MERARR 0 =R & A E AV &
RXE

R—E-_=F+=-_A=+—8"
XRalEESIEEITHRABR
RAR S EFMAREE(EE
REBEHFNMBEKEAEXVEH
fe1p - KR RE#EFZS B
BEABREFESFRBEKM FEXV
EREIRSD B e AR A KB
REAWEZEAR (BEREE
ERBERNZEBRNEER
EETBRABREEESRSR A HE
BENTAERIOAR) HAR
BEEFRBEKNEIKET
REZEmENETHERZ R
KB HBRBEZEETFABENS
KA RBMXMER MAR
m

Approximate

Capacity/Nature Shares held/ Long/Short Percentage of
Name of Director of Interest interested in  position Shareholding
e/ &E
BN
BExps 5B/ EREE BHEHE HOKE BOBREDH
Mr. Yu Huang (Note 1) Interested in a controlled 206,746,667  Long position 33.10%

corporation
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Note:

(1) Top Synergy Y&C Limited is owned as to approximately
94.79% by Mr. Yu Huang and as to approximately 5.21%
by Ms. Chen Cheng, respectively. Therefore, Mr. Yu Huang
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Top
Synergy Y&C Limited pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none
of the Directors nor chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest and short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or which, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, have been entered in the register referred to
therein, or have been, pursuant to the Model Code, notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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() Substantial Shareholders’ and Other
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions in
Shares and Underlying Shares

So far as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 2023,
the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise
notified to the Company were as follows:

(1

Number of the

FERRREMALRRS
REEROPHER KR

BREEMHN R_BE-_=F+=
AZ+—8 THAL EEB(E
ARBEERHZSTHRAER
[ R AN P AR AERIE
FHEMBEKMEXVIEE2R3
DEBEV IR S A AN F) W EE sk
AR ARNRRERZSNNEE
& BIE336IKBAETHFENE LM
N HBITMERRB AR
ORI

Approximate

Capacity/Nature Shares held/ Long/Short Percentage of
Name of Director of Interest interested in  position Shareholding
E=2-P 2o
EEpg £ 50/ ERtE EHROEE %A BABRES®
Ms. Chen Cheng (Note 1) Interest of spouse 206,746,667  Long position 33.10%
B 58 £+ (B 53 1) fo B s S9)
Top Synergy Y&C Limited Beneficial owner 206,746,667  Long position 33.10%
E=EAA e
Gold-Face Finance Limited Corporation having 145,080,000  Long position 23.23%
(Note 2) security interest in
shares
HREBER LA (PEE2) BEROERERZ S9)
]
Upbest Group Limited (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 145,080,000  Long position 23.23%

XREEFRDA(ME2)
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Chen Cheng is the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang. Therefore,
Ms. Chen Cheng is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares that Mr. Yu Huang is interested in pursuant to the
SFO.

(2)  As security for a loan provided by Gold-Face Finance Limited
to the Company, each of Top Synergy Y&C Limited and Keen
Pacemaker Limited, as chargor has charged 124,000,000
shares and 21,080,000 shares respectively in favour of
Gold-Face Finance Limited. Gold-Face Finance Limited
is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Upbest Group
Limited. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 23 December 2021 and 16 September
2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, no
person other than the Directors and chief executive of
the Company whose interests are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive's Interests and
Short Positions in the Shares, the Underlying Shares
or Debentures” above, had notified the Company of
an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debenture of the Company that was required
to be recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During FY2023, so far as the Company is aware, the aggregate
revenue attributable to the five largest customers and the
largest customer accounted for approximately 76% (2022: 76%)
and 23% (2022: 29%), respectively, of the Group’s total revenue
for FY2023. Purchases from the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 94% (2022: 76%) of the Group's
total purchase for FY2023 and the purchase from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 52% (2022:
44%), respectively, of the Group's total purchase for FY2023.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, or any
of their close associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) or
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital), had
any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or
suppliers during FY2023.

Directors

The Directors during FY2023 and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yu Huang (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Zhu Qiang

Non-executive Director
Ms. Zheng Jingyun

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. He Weidong

Ms. Wang Shiling

Mr. Gong Lan
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In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles, Mr. Zhu Qiang
and Ms. Wang Shiling will retire by rotation at the next annual
general meeting and eligible for re-election.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Biographical Details of Directors

Brief biographical details of the Directors including the changes
in the Directors’ information if any subsequent to the interim
report are included in the biographical details as set out on
pages 34 to 36 of this annual report.

Changes in Information of the Directors

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, there is no
change in information on the Directors required to be disclosed
for the year ended 31 December 2023 except Mr. Zhu Qiang
who has an update of his academic qualification during the
period.

Directors’ Services Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
and will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by the
Company or the Director or the Director has not been re-elected
as a Director or has been removed by Shareholders at any of
its general meeting or is disqualified from acting as a Director
in accordance with the Articles. Each non-executive Director
and independent non-executive Director was appointed under
a letter of appointment for a fixed term of three years unless
terminated by the Company or the Director in accordance with
the terms as set out in the letter of appointment.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has or is
proposed to have a service agreement with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than the
statutory compensation.
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Directors’ Interests in Transactions,
Arrangements, Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group's business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which the Director or a
connected entity of the Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted as at, or at any time during
FY2023.

Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and controlling shareholder of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries during FY2023.

Emoluments of the Directors and Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of Directors and the five highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Emolument Policy

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing
the Group’'s emolument policy and structure for making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors, senior management
and general staff of the Group. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined by reference to the economic
situation, the prevailing market condition, the responsibilities
and duties assumed by each Director as well as their individual
performance.

The Company adopted the Share Option Scheme, details of
which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report.

Competing Interests

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of
Directors nor the controlling Shareholder nor any of their
respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) that
compete or may compete with the business of the Group and
any conflicts of interests which any such person has or may
have with the Group during FY2023.
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Non-Competition Undertaking

The Company confirms that the non-competition undertaking of
Mr. Yu Huang, Ms. Chen Cheng and Top Synergy Y&C Limited,
details of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully
complied and enforced during FY2023. The Board also confirms
that there are no other matters in relation to the aforesaid
undertaking which should be brought to the attention of the
Shareholders and the potential investors of the Company.

Legal Proceedings and Compliance

To the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31 December
2023, there were no legal proceedings or claims currently
existing, pending or threatened against any member of the
Group that the Directors consider will have a material adverse
effect on the financial conditions or results of operation of the
Group.

During FY2023, the Group’s business operations had complied
with applicable laws, rules and regulations in the places where
the Group operates in all material respects save for (i) failure
to make social insurance contributions in full compliance
with the Social Insurance Law of the PRC; (ii) failure to make
housing provident fund contributions in full compliance with the
Regulations on the Administration of Housing Provident Fund
of the PRC; and (iii) failure in completing the (a) environmental
impact assessment before construction; and (b) construction
of the matching environmental protection facilities and the
inspection and acceptance formalities before the operation of
a production plant. Please refer to the subparagraph headed
“Non-compliance Incidents” under the paragraph headed "“Legal
Proceedings and Compliance” in the section headed “Business”
of the Prospectus.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties
that may affect the business, financial condition, results of
operations and growth prospects of the Company. However,
this list is not exhaustive as there may be other risks and
uncertainties resulting from changes in economic condition and
operating environment over time:

1. Economic and political risk: the Sino-US trade war,
Russia-Ukraine and Israeli-Palestinian geopolitical conflicts
may further affect the Group’s overseas sales business,
financial conditions and results of operations; and the
continuous outbreak of the contagious COVID-19 in the
PRC and worldwide may continue to have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects.

2. Business risk: the Group's sale of co-branded products
relies on the popularity and market acceptance of
intellectual properties used in the co-branded products,
which depends largely on the public reception on the car
models and the entertainment characters of the intellectual
properties licensors and the marketing and promotional
activities of the intellectual properties licensors. The Group
also does not maintain long term purchase contracts
with most of the Group's customers, any disruption or
termination of the business relationships with the major
customers or fluctuations in their demand for the Group's
products may have a material adverse effect on the
Group's business, results of operation, financial condition
and prospect.

3. Compliance risk: Non-compliance with product safety
and laws and regulations may lead to financial loss and
reputational damage. Product safety is the Group's
number one priority. The Group has robust processes
and procedures in place to ensure compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations. Changes in related laws
and regulations may lead to increased compliance costs.

4.  Financial risk: The Group is exposed to financial risks
related to currency, pricing, credit and liquidity in the
normal course of business. For details of such financial
risks, please refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group has developed a risk management and internal control
system to identify current risks and has undertaken necessary
measures to mitigate the risks identified. Details of the Group's
risk management and internal control system are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.
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Key Relationship with the Stakeholders

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration packages to
attract and motivate the employees, and regularly reviews the
remuneration package of the employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard. For further
details of the benefits of the employees, please refer to the
section headed “Employees and Remuneration Policies” in this
annual report.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its business partners to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors and senior management have
kept good communication, promptly exchanged ideas and shared
business updates with its business partners when appropriate.
During FY2023, there was no material and significant dispute
between the Group and any of its business partners.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Every Director shall be entitled under the Articles to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all actions,
costs, charges, losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him/
her as a Director in the execution or discharge of his/her duty.
The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors since the Listing Date.

Connected and Related Party Transactions

For FY2023, there were no connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company which
require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Shares

Neither the Company nor any member of the Group had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Shares during FY2023.

Sufficiency of Public Float

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company, at least
25% of the Company's issued capital were held by public during
FY2023 and up to the date of this annual report.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for FY2023 have been
audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong), who shall retire in the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) as the auditor of
the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Corporate Governance
Details of the corporate governance of the Company are set out

in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.
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Taxation Relief

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently
no taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason
of holding of Shares based upon profits, income, gains or
appreciations and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance
tax or estate duty.

Environmental Policy

The Group’'s commitment to protecting the environment is
well reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green
measures and awareness in its daily business operations. The
Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees.
The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures
and practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and
enhancing environmental sustainability.

Details of the Group's environmental, social and governance
policies and performance during FY2023 are disclosed in the
section headed "Environmental, Social and Governance Report”
in this annual report.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in

which the Company is incorporated, which oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning management and administration of the

whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or in existence during FY2023.

Charitable Donations

During FY2023, no charitable and other donations was made by
the Group (FY2022: nil).
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Continuing disclosure requirement under rule
13.21 of the Listing Rules

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 23
December 2021, on 23 December 2021, the Company entered
into a loan agreement (the “"Loan Agreement”) with a licensed
money lender in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(the “Lender”) for the principal amount of HK$30,000,000 (the
“Loan”). The Loan has a term of one year from its drawdown
date subject to the terms of the Loan Agreement. To the best
of the knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Lender is a third party
independent of the Company and its connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules).

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Company has covenanted
that it will procure Mr. Yu Huang, a controlling shareholder of
the Company, among others, not to sell, transfer or otherwise
dispose of his equity interests in the Company and its
subsidiaries or associated companies or any part thereof or
create any encumbrance over his equity interests or any part
thereof unless with the prior written consent of the Lender. A
breach of such covenant will constitute an event of default, upon
the occurrence of which, all outstanding amounts under the
Loan Agreement shall become immediately due and payable.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated
16 September 2022, the Company entered into the first
supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the
Lender on 16 September 2022 pursuant to which, among others.
Top Synergy Y&C Limited (“Top Synergy”), the controlling
shareholder of the Company: (i) has charged 100,000,000
Shares in favour of the Lender as security for the Loan; and
(ii) covenanted at all time directly hold and be beneficially
interested in not less than 206,746,667 Shares. The principal
of HK$30,000,000 had been drawn and shall become due and
payable on 22 December 2022.
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On 16 December 2022, the Company entered into the second
supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement with the
Lender, pursuant to which the repayment date of the Loan was
extended to 23 March 2023. On 13 October 2023, Top Synergy
further charged 24,000,000 Shares in favour of the Lender as
additional security to maintain the percentage of the pledged
shares following completion of the placing of the new Shares on
23 August 2023. In 12 June 2024, the Company further entered
into the third supplemental agreement to the Loan Agreement
with the Lender, pursuant to which the parties agreed that the
total outstanding principal amount of HK$13,223,850 shall be
fully repaid by six installments on or before 31 March 2025.

As at 31 December 2023, Top Synergy Y&C Limited held
approximately 33.10% of the total issued share capital of
the Company. Top Synergy Y&C Limited was owned as to
approximately 94.79% by Mr. Yu Huang and as to approximately
5.21% by Ms. Chen Cheng, the spouse of Mr. Yu Huang,
respectively.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has repaid
HK$16,776,150 and the amount of HK$13,223,850 remained
outstanding.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
did not have other disclosure obligations under Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Kidztech Holdings Limited
Yu Huang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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Environmental, social and governance
report

The Board (the “Board”) of directors of Kidztech Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the
environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report
(the "Report”) of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group"”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the
“Year 2023"), which aims to provide details of policies and
performance of the Group on sustainable developments to
both internal and external stakeholders.

The Report, which was prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide set out in Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEx ESG Reporting
Guide"), highlights the environmental and social measures
and activities of the Group for the Year 2023. For details
regarding the Group’s compliance with the requirements
for corporate governance, please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report.

Governance Structure

The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board plays a key role in overseeing the ESG aspects
of the Group. The Board and management assess the
impact of ESG-related risks on operations from time to
time, and set the development direction of the Group 's
ESG strategy and formulate relevant policies to address
the risks. The Board ensures that the management has
all appropriate tools and resources to check and evaluate
the performance of the Group in different aspects such
as environment, health and safety, labor standards and
product liability in the context of environment, society and
governance.
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The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy on material ESG-related issues

The Group conducts materiality assessment annually, to
better understand the views and expectations of different
stakeholders on ESG matters. The Group ensures that
it uses various platforms and communication channels
to reach, listen and respond to its key stakeholders.
Through comprehensive communication with stakeholders,
the Group is able to understand their expectations and
concerns. The feedback received enables the Group to
make more informed decisions and to better assess and
manage the impacts of those business decisions.

The Group has assessed the materiality of ESG issues
through the following steps: (i) the Group identifies ESG
issues; (ii) prioritizes key ESG areas with stakeholder
engagement; and (iii) checks and determines material
ESG issues based on communication outcome with
stakeholders.

These steps enhance the understanding of the importance
attached to each ESG issue by the Group’'s stakeholders
and enable the Board to plan more comprehensively for the
sustainable development.

Board’s reviews progress made against
ESG-related goals and targets

The progress of implementation and the performance of
the ESG-related goals and targets will be closely reviewed
by the Group from time to time. If the progress falls short
of expectation or the business operations change, it may
be necessary to make changes and communicate the goals
and targets with key stakeholders.

The Board has set future strategic goals to enable the
Group to develop a realistic path with the focus on
achieving its visions. The management will carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be
weighed against the Group's philosophy and goals.
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Reporting Principles

This Report complies with four reporting principles outlined
in the ESG Reporting Guide, which include (i) Materiality:
The Group has identified a number of issues covering
environment, society and governance, and has invited
stakeholders to assess the importance of these issues
for the Year 2023. For details, please refer to the section
“Materiality Matrix” in this Report; (i) Quantitative: This
report details the criteria, methodologies and sources of
conversion factors used for key performance indicators
on emissions and energy consumption; (iii) Balance:
The positive and negative impacts of the business are
presented with high transparency; and (iv) Consistency:
Unless otherwise specified, this Report adopted consistent
statistical methodologies and key performance indicators
with those in previous ESG Reports to facilitate ready
comparisons.

Reporting scope

The Group is mainly engaged in manufacturing and sales
of toys. This Report will focus on disclosure of policies and
key performance indicators on four environmental aspects
and eight social aspects for the Group's production facilities
located in the People’'s Republic of China (the "PRC") and
the business in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to
collect information mainly regarding environment, society
and governance so as to disclose information in relation to
the sustainable development when applicable.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group is committed to maintaining long-term
sustainable development of its business, while improving
environmental protection and providing support to the
community where it operates. The Group also carefully
manages its business and provides customers with quality
products and services in accordance with reasonable
decision-making procedures.
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The Group maintains close contact with its stakeholders
(including shareholders, government, employees,
customers, suppliers, society and the public) and strives
to hear dissenting views from stakeholders through
constructive communication and to balance the interests
between them so as to determine the long-term direction
of business development. The Board is responsible for
assessing the ESG risks of the Group, and ensuring that
the relevant risk management and internal monitoring
system operates properly and effectively.

The Group discusses with stakeholders through various
channels for their expectations and concerns, and provides
the stakeholders with the following feedback:
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Stakeholders Expectation and concerns Communication and responses
HHE HA S B AR R B iE B e
Shareholders ° Financial result . Improving financial performance
° Corporate transparency through Expanding production
° Sound risk control capacity and improving
production efficiency
o Daily information disclosure
° Optimization of risk
management and internal
control
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Government ° Compliance with laws and o Operation in compliance with
regulations the law
o Tax payment in accordance ° Tax payment in full and on time
with laws ° Compliance with all applicable
o Compliance with product laws and regulations
safety and relevant laws and
regulations
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Stakeholders

Annual Report 2023

Expectation and concerns

Communication and responses

BHE HREE B SR R BB EE e
Employees Career development platform e Promotion mechanism
Remuneration and benefit o Provision of attractive
Safe working environment remuneration packages
° Provision of training to staff
and enhancing their safety
awareness
EB BEERTA . T
AR A . RN K=ok e
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Customers Customer information security e Customer privacy protection
Customer interest protection e Marketing in compliance with
Joint brand products the law
° Obtaining concession of
famous toys and entertainment
characters
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Suppliers Collaboration integrity ° Building a responsible supply
Business ethics and chain
creditworthiness o Performing the contract
according to law
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The society and the public
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Environment friendliness
Employment opportunities
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Materiality Matrix

In the Year, the Group conducted materiality assessment
on various ESG issues to identify which issues are the
most significant towards the Group’s business and attract
most concerns from the stakeholders. Such assessment is
helpful to align its business practices with the expectations
of the stakeholders. The Group has identified 21 issues,
which cover environmental, social and operating, and
invited internal and external stakeholders to assess the
materiality of the ESG issues through scoring tools and
interviews. The management of the Group has reviewed
the ranking of materiality of ESG issues, and disclosed
the results subsequently in this Report. The materiality
assessment results can rank the significance of the
opinions of the stakeholders, so that the Group can report
and act on those with a high priority.
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During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of
environmental, social and operation related issues, and
assessed their importance to stakeholders and the Group
through various channels. This assessment helps to
ensure the Group's business development is in line with
the expectations and requirements of its stakeholders.
The Group’s and its stakeholders’ matters of concern are

wmirm AEBHZHER

HEREENRBEERET
ﬂ%’ﬁﬁﬂTﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
BROELAEBENHNEEN -
ZAEAEERANEEN XD
ERNUARNDENHEREKX -
AEEREFHERINER

presented in the following materiality matrix: EUTEEHBESZY:
Importance to the Group
HAEASENEEM
Low Medium High
& B =
Importance to  High L 2 Engagement with @ Greenhouse gas
Stakeholder customers on emission
HENENEES environmental €&  Customer privacy
1% issues €  Environmental
L 2 Labor standards in impact created by
supply chain our business
¢ \Waste €  Occupational
€ Talent attraction health and safety
and retention € Use of chemicals
€  Anti-corruption
€ Corporate
governance
€  Green building
certificate
= & REZENEF, € BREREHEW
% i} ¢ EFPHLE
& HESELTHEE & EBEKOIERER
® EEY A
& RSIKBBAST € BEERKIZR
® FHRIEER
® ES
L 2 1S % B b=}
® HEEERE
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Importance to the Group

HEAEENEEM
Low Medium High
& i =
Medium ¢ Community ¢ Energy
investment consumption
€ Employee benefit € Inclusion and
€  Supply chain equal opportunity
management ¢ Water
€ Economic value consumption
generated
¢ Customer
satisfaction
€  Training and
development
A & HEXRE ® HRER
® [EEBEF ® HEpERTFEHE
& HEHEETIRE ® FEKE
® ELANEEEE
® EFRPWBEE
® BIEKEE
Low
&
Based on the participation of the stakeholders, the Group EREHELE . AEEEH
has identified issues with material environmental and social AMEBERREL ST EN
impacts and matters concerned by stakeholders. ERERBMNEBINEIE -
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The table underneath showed the aspects on the ESG
Guide to be assessed and those ESG issues were
determined to be material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in the ESG Guide

ESGIESIFH I NWESGH |

TRBRESGHEI R ARFFME
BT BH%FESGHEH A
EEMEREKN -

Material ESG issues for the Group
AEBEWE AESGHE &

(A)
(A)
Al

Al

A2
A2
A3
A3
A4

B7
B8

B8

Environmental

RIR

Emissions

iz 3¢

Use of Resources
AIRER

Environment and Natural Resources
RERKAER

Climate Change

R 21k

Social

Fan—

Employment and Labour Practices
RERETIER

Health and Safety
ERET 2
Development and Training
BRRE

Labour Standards
LIR%E

Supply Chain Management
e E R

Product Responsibility
EmEE

Anti-corruption

RES
Community Investment

HERE

Emission from town gas, electricity or vehicle
WEMRE  EHREWHOHENR
Use of energy and paper

BE TR K 4 oR B {2 R

Labour practices

BIER

Workplace health and safety

TiEMBENERERL S

Employee development and training

EEERRE

Anti-child and forced labour

RETIR@HlET

Supply chain management

HEEER

Product responsibility

EmAE

Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money
laundering

REFG BIERFERERE

Community programs, employee volunteering and
donation

MHEFE - BEIEEEHRERE
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Environmental

The Group is committed to minimizing its environmental
impact and complying with the evolving laws and
regulations on environmental protection of the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group approaches its environmental
management in a systematic and comprehensive manner
to review and update its environmental policies periodically,
to comply with the latest requirements of the applicable
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group.

The Group has developed procedures for the management
of environmental health and safety and established a
healthy and safe working environment, to minimize the
security risks at work and the environmental impact of
production activities. Every year, the Group conducts water
quality testing and air quality testing for employees in the
production and living areas of the plant.

Fully aware of the importance of environmental protection,
the Group has adopted regular measures to manage
emissions and wastes.

Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel
Consumption

The Group's exhaust gas emissions are mainly from the
combustion of gasoline by motor vehicles. The exhaust
gases emitted from the combustion of relevant fossil fuels
mainly include nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,)
and particulate matters (PM).

a) Since the Company did not have town fuel and
town gas consumption during the Year, therefore
no emissions data from gaseous fuel consumption
applied.

A11.

BRI HEREREME

T

AEBEBE2NRMIDEHR
MEE TEFHEREEDT
-

i
YH

Bk EREREERIER
SERDEALEZEOR 7
TE O BARRREBRRBIEH
BMAMEH  UFaHAEH
BEARENBEREIRLZER
ZEAER -

P
i

AEBEEHEREERLEE
BERF B2yu—HAEREELE
MITIERE  BARER D TIE
FEENSELZE2ERUALRE
LEBEETHHRENTE -
AEBBETHYEYBELEEN
AEREBME TRAKETTK
BRHHAREEEERNEREE
EITRH -

AEBRAIDAMRRRENE
EM YEEHERIRER K
EEBRMAMERY -

REMPOERNFRBE

AEBEBERERETEEELARS
8 MR 5 VRO o AR B L A R
BERERNEITEBEASR
E%INO,) ~ REALM(SO,) & &
KL (PM) ©

a) HBRARANRAFEIYLE
WHEMH R R RBRE - E
It I 4 5@ A R SR8 MR BB
FERHE B -
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b) the Company owned some motor vehicles during the
Year, the emissions data from the vehicles is set out

b) ARANRAFEHEBET

B ZFEWOHERK

below: BEIMT -
Key performance indicator (“KPI1")
BARENEE(EREREEZD
2023 Unit %

2023%F Efy ERay
NO, 90.7 Kg 90.9%
BEAN T
SO, 0.1 Kg 0.1%
k=R (a7 T
PM 9.0 Kg 9.0%
B T
Total 99.8 Kg 100%
HwE T3
Looking forward the Group will continue to improve RERR AEBBEEEL
the efficiency of usage of vehicles by better planning HITHRGHRSE  Res@mE R
of the travelling routes, so as to better control its air R - 4 B AT i H E R
emissions. PER o

A1.2.Greenhouse Gas Emission M2 BREREHEN

68

The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions are mainly from
the combustion of gasoline by motor vehicles and the use
of electricity. The emissions of greenhouse gases include
direct and indirect emissions.

AEBEAMNERERBIERT
EREEHERETIHRAE -
BERBEREBEEERFREK
B PERR -

>
S
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The following table sets out the key performance indicators REAFE XEBAERED
of the Group’s greenhouse gases for the Year: BARENIEZEFHINTE:
KPI
BRARIEE
2023 Unit %

2023%F Efy Bk
Scope 1
EE—
Direct Emission 14.7 tonnes 3.2%
HEPER i
Scope 2
EE—
Indirect Emission 448.1 tonnes 96.8%
i # HE R i
Scope 3
HE=
Other indirect Emission — tonnes —
o fth 7 B HE AR i
Total 462.8 tonnes 100%
as A

Scope 1: Direct emissions of greenhouse gases from
the business owned or controlled by the Group
including emissions of greenhouse gases from
the use of motor vehicles by the Company.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions of greenhouse gases from
electricity purchased and gas consumed.

During the Year, there was 462.8 (2022: 355.5) tonnes of
carbon dioxide equivalent greenhouse gases (mainly the
usage of vehicles for transportation of petrol and gasoline)
emitted from the Group’s operation.

BE—: AAKEMEARE
HOERBERELN
BERBHER 21
KEARRBERATE
BB EREBBEW -

HE—: BESHNEHERERR
WMERELANEERE
BEDR

RAFE  AEENKEED
HEH462.818 (20224 : 355.508)
TR EENEERE(XE
A EWERAM&AM) -
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The Group's long term plan is to, by the Year 2026, reduce NEEMKEEBIZZEMK2026%F
the intensity of the exhaust gas emission and greenhouse E AT 2021 & /) & £ 5 B
gas emissions by 5% based on the benchmark of the Year REREEEREEREE D
2021. Al 5% o
Benchmark

Environmental KPIs Emission reduction target target on 2021 Status
REBMBENER BB 2021 EEB R AMRE
Scope 1
HE—
Direct Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 70.6 tonnes In progress
HEYR 2026 F E AR 2 5% 70.6MF HEITH
Scope 2
gE=
Indirect Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 745.3 tonnes In progress
il £ Bk 7K 2026 £ JZ B A £ 5% 745,31 HEATH
Scope 3
HE=
Other indirect Emission 5% reduction by Year 2026 — In progress
H th A 82 HE AR 20264 [E 7k 2 5% — HEATH
Total Greenhouse Gas 5% reduction by Year 2026 815.9 tonnes In progress

Emission
BEREBHMNES 722026 £ £ 5 & 2 5% 815.918 AT
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and
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Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

Waste Management

Hazardous waste is generated in toy manufacturing.
The hazardous waste mainly includes pollutants such as
hydrocarbons (CxHx). The following table sets out the key
performance indicators of hazardous wastes of the Group
for the Year:

A13
K
A4

BRI HEREREME

RERRYRETRRY

BEREYERE

AEEBENAREBRETES
EEERY TEBRERIAL
BWCHNF SR - AKHE
RAEFEELENBEEZERDH
FARAMERHINN TR

KPI
BRENER
2023 Unit %
2023%F E{u Bak
Hazardous Waste 4312 kg 100.0%
EEEEY Fr
Non-hazardous Waste — kg 0%
BEEEY T
Total 43.12 kg 100%
wme T

The Group has specific measures for the discharge of
hazardous waste. For instance, paint suppliers must
comply with (i) regulations regarding Polycyclic Aromatic
Hydrocarbons (PAHs) and other substances in paint and
(i) Toy Paint Regulations issued by the United States
and European countries. Suppliers must also perform
pre-production inspections for hazardous substances
before beginning mass production. All post-production
volatilization resulting from paint spraying and the pad
printing process must be filtered before being discharged
into the environment, thus minimizing the potential
risk to human health. All wastewater must be filtered
and converted for reuse. Hazardous pollutants are only
discharged after purification and filtration, conforming
to national regulations on the discharge of atmospheric
pollutants.

AEBEHEEEEZEYHER
MEREE M2 REERE
BTONEEZRRPMSEZRS
JE(PAH) I E 9 & 89 5% 48 K (i)
EHEBMMNBREAOITAR
ER o HERITAEATERGBIE
EECZRHBEEYEETEE
Al E HEZREZEENT
B BOMEBEEEREBEEHA
EHERBRBERZAEITIBIR
s NMEABRENEE
BB o BT REKEBEITEEM
HUBLEFFER BEEE
Y& RSB F L F13B B 12 HE R
WHEBKRERKTEZEDE
M E) IR E ©
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AREIHERAEEMNE K&
BREERRIFTEMNRIR K
EEMATFHEBEZ 2 MN2026F
ERIBENT:

To better manage the Group’'s major issues and their
performance on environmental aspects, the Group
proposes the following five-year target on waste reduction
by the Year 2026:

Benchmark
target on 2021 Status
2021 EEB R AMRE

Environmental KPls
REBRENER

Waste reduction target

i BE B 1R

Hazardous Waste

BEBREY

5% reduction by Year 2026
2026 & £ B R 2 5%

Non-hazardous Waste
BEREY

5% reduction by Year 2026
722026 £ B R 2 5%

The Group will continue to assess, record and disclose
its greenhouse gas emissions and other environmental
data annually, and evaluate the effectiveness of existing
measures to further draw targets and work up plans for
greenhouse gas and hazardous waste reduction. During the
year, the Group have achieved the target of Year 2026.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People's Republic of China, Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water
Pollution, and Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter
311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) relating to its air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharging into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
during the Year. In addition, the Group did not receive any
material fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the Year.

1,431kg In progress
1,431F 55 # 47

0.005kg In progress
0.005F % #EfTH

AREBGBEETG  LHELHE
ESFEEREERREMIR
BHE THFEREBBEOK
B ANE—FPHERERER
BEBRLEEWEER TIER
oM AFE AEEEER
2026 FEM B IZ -

RAFEE  KEEW FMEL
MEBERZERNEETRES
W mAKE MBS ARAE
ENEBEEEEYNEES AE A
HEZERELZBTEIMNERKE
BER BE(PEARKENER
BREREZX)  (PEARKEM
Bl K|S AZE) - (PEA
R EMB KT A XY R(ZE
RIFAEFIEFNEBEHE
SNE) o N REAFEAREE
TERARETEBEEERM
BT ME ARSI REHE -
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A2.1 Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimizing the impact of its
manufacturing process on the environment to conserve the
environment. The Group strives to improve the efficient use
of natural resources, such as minimizing waste/emissions
and implementing a recycling program. Measures are
detailed as follows:

° Switch off lights and turn off unnecessary
energy-consuming devices when they are not in use;

° Promote environmental protection such as saving
water and electricity by slogan or poster in office;

° Encourage printing or photocopying on both sides of
paper, where applicable;

° Regular maintenance of vehicles to ensure good
condition of such vehicles for operational efficiency;

° Adopt the use of electric cars; and

o Focus on quality management so as to reduce
wastage and scrap for less pollution resulted.

BRI HEREREME

A21 &R A

AEEREBEREHREN
TERERND A -BEHIR
RERE AKBERIRES X
RERNERARE fIWEE
BWMAOBEEY, PR E LUK
e HRARERNT:

s HETERKE BHEER
THBRENFEERE:

s EFRF HINERAE
RUMEEHNWKENRE
CIpisE

o HE)EMITEIKF (W
ER)

e THREEH WREW
MRARTF KRS ETH
& ;

s EREHE K

e ITEHEEEHE HAIRE
N BEHRL - e R 453

o
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The following table sets out the key performance indicators RAEAFEE AEBEREAD
for the Group's use of resources in the Year: FARRBEENIEZHINTXR:
KPI
BREAENER

% increase/
2023 2022 Unit (decrease)
#m,
20234 2022%F E{u (R 2B DL
Electricity consumed 535,572 405,512 MWh (32%)
BIHE KRB
Gasoline and petrol consumed 62,976 69,780 MWh (10%)
MR JK B B
Total energy consumed 598,549 475,292 MWh (26%)
ERERESE K B
Water consumed 11,51 16,006 tonnes (28%)
KFEE 195
KPI (intensity)
BREXER(EBE)
2023 2022 Unit
20234 2022F By
Total energy consumption intensity 4.27 2.94 MWh/thousand of revenue
ERERETERSE K EE Tk
Water consumption intensity 0.08 0.10 Tonnes/thousand of revenue

FEKRBRE

WA F T U =
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To better manage the Group’'s major issues and their
performance on environmental aspects, the Group
proposes the following five-year target on savings by the
Year 2026:

BRI HEREREME

REFHEEAESENE KFE
BLEERRITENRER K
& B 020264 E AT 8 B HI &6
MBRWT:

Benchmark
Environmental KPIs Emission reduction target target on 2021 Status
REBRERIER BB & 2021 EEB R AMRE
Energy consumption 5% reduction by Year 2026 6.11TMWh In progress
intensity
RREREE 2026 % [E B R 2 5% AR #EFTH
Water consumption 5% reduction by Year 2026 0.16MWh In progress
intensity
FKERE 2026 %F & Al 2 5% 016K FLBF #E1TH

The Group has taken several measures to increase resource
efficiency. For instance, the Group installed LED lights
to increase illumination more efficiently in the production
line area. Also, the Group has utilized hot runner systems
within injection molding machines to reduce waste.

The Group obtained suitable water sources in compliance
with the Regulations on the Administration of the License
for Water Drawing and the Levy of Water Resource Fees
of the PRC (2017 Revision) in the Year. In the Year, there
was no issue in sourcing water that was fit for purpose. All
water supplies were acquired from public water pipes.

Besides, the management of the Group believed that the
use of packaging materials is immaterial.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group conducts its business operations in compliance
with the relevant provisions of the Catalog of Classified
Management of Pollutant Discharge Permits for Stationary
Pollution Sources and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste, and appropriately treats the
generated emissions and pollutants. All emissions and
pollutants are tested and recorded in a detailed manner,
and meet the requirements of national environmental
protection regulations and emission standards without
adversely affecting the environment and natural resources.

AEBECRBZERESERX
EWEm- Pl AEEER
KLEDE  NEBERESLE
REIEWOBAE - I A&
BAETERAERIRERGA
HWARE -

AEERAFRERB(REAR
B BUKFF R AR B R B
WEBGO(ZF—LFEFTR))
BEEEENKER RNAFE -
XA B E A 2 EXOK
BROEE - TEHKBRD
HKEER -

O AEBEEERAS B
EMBORRALTIEKX -

A3 BRERKXKAER

A& E K RCEE SRR S T
APBERZB)RMPEAR
B E 8 B R B SRR E)
HEREREXRH YXER
BARELENERMSRY -
BHERANE R & BB &
AT UFABERREREX
RRBERBEEER BREYH
REICBRERELABRE -
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A4 Climate change

76

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to
climate change. In response to climate change, the Group
reference the Financial Stability Board's Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) framework to
assess climate-related risks. There are two main types of
risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate
change impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with
low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly
structural damage to premises of the Group and where the
Group's construction and operating projects are held due to
the increase in frequency of extreme weather events and
flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such climate
change may affect labor management and planning, and
also increase the risk of work-related injuries for the
employees. In addition, there is a risk that the Group's
infrastructure and machines may be damaged due to
climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the
Group has purchased employee injury insurances for
all employees. Such insurances cover the expenditure
coverage for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions.
The Group has also purchased relevant property insurance
for all construction projects, operating projects and the
Group's key fixed assets to cover property losses due to
weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs that may
be required.
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Social

The Group highly values its employees who have dedicated
themselves to the business of the Group. As a responsible
corporation, the Group commits itself to providing a decent
and healthy workplace to its employees. The Group has
formulated comprehensive employment policies. The
Group has implemented the employment principles of
“selecting people for jobs, matching people with positions,
and conducting recruitment openly and fairly”.

Employment and Labour Practices
Employee Benefits

The Group appreciates the hard work and contributions
of each employee. A comprehensive employee benefits
package is therefore in return to offer to its dedicated and
talented staff. The employee benefits are compensated
fairly according to their performance, with reference to the
market practice.

The Group performs annual staff performance appraisal
to assess the performance of employees for the year-end
bonus determination. In this regard, a transparent
mechanism is conducted by taking into account various
factors, including but not limited to the employees’
attendance performance, capability, attitude, and
contributions to the Group. With reference to appraisal on
the employees, staff promotion and salary increment are
rewarded to the contributing and improving employees.

In addition, the Group contributes to the employees’
social insurance and housing funds with reference to the
Labor Law of the PRC for its employees. Besides, high
temperature subsidy is offered for the front-line employees
of gas refuelling stations on several months within summer
season annually.

B1.

BRI HEREREME
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Staff Composition BIBK
As at 31 December 2023, the Reporting Entities employed MR2023F12A31H " RE B &
a total of 27 (2022: 95) staff. HAB274(2022F : 95%)B I -
a)  Employees’ Employment Type Distribution a ESEBEAS M
2023 2022
20234 2022%F
By employment type Male Female Male Female
RERER B Z B Z M
Part-time employment 0% 0% 0% 0%
BB
Full-time employment 62% 38% 57% 43%
oy
Total 62 % 38% 57% 43%
# 5T
b)  Employees’ Age and Gender Distribution b) EEFERIEF M
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Age Group Male Female Male Female
F i 48 Bl B Z B Z
0-30 0% 13% 5% 1%
0Z305%
31-50 49% 25% 29% 24%
31E505%
51-60 13% 0% 23% 8%
512605
=61/>61 0% 0% 0% 0%
615% 3 A £
Total 62% 38% 57% 43%
@ 3t
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c) Employees’ Geographical Distribution

BRI HEREREME

¢ ESMES M

Location 2023 2022
ih 2§ 20234 2022F
Hong Kong 0% 15%
BE

Mainland China 100% 85%
R A b

Total 100% 100%
4@ Et

In the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
violations of the relevant laws and regulations relating to
the Group’s compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,
diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare. The Group strictly complied with local laws
and regulations relating to employment, such as the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), the Labor Law of the People's Republic
of China, and the Production Safety Law of the People's
Republic of China. In addition, there were no material fines
or sanctions for non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the Year.

RAFE NEBEYTHMEE
MYREEREE  BERET
THERHE KEEHE - FHF#
g Zanlt REBRHEME
MEGSBEMEBEIREIRATAE
ETMEXERBR AKEHEE
RETEHRERBEBENML S IEE
ER KRR DID(E B A
EH78) (58 # QX TE 2 5 2
& 1) (& B % P F485%) - (&
1K T & & B (F B X Pl 5608
B) (Bl 1R E B (E B A
51 £480%) (PEARKME
EHEOMPEAREIMEZ
BEEEXR) W RAFEYL
BERKRETABEEREZAME
XEARFRIHEHBEBER
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B2 Employee Health and Safety

80

The Group treats employees’ safety and their working
environment with the highest priority. In order to ensure
the implementation of safety measures and improve
employees’ safety awareness, a production safety system
has been developed to provide education and establish
assessments for employees in different departments,
especially focusing on machine operation for employees
from the production department. Supervisors must strictly
follow the operating procedures to prevent accidents and
ensure the safety of workers.

The Group follows fire protection policies, regulations and
technical specifications. According to the provisions of the
Fire Control Law of the People’'s Republic of China and the
Regulations on the Administration of Fire Control Safety of
the Group, we have established a specialized fire protection
team to develop and implement the Group's fire safety
system. The Group has also set up an emergency response
team, equipped with special fire alarm devices and
firefighting apparatuses, and arranged special personnel
for regular inspections and maintenance. In addition, the
Group regularly organizes fire drills to enhance employees’
awareness of fire prevention and ensure a safe working
environment.
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In the Year 2023, the number and rate of work-related
fatalities and the number of work days lost due to
work-related injuries are as follows:

Health and Safety
EEREZ2

BRI HEREREME

MR2023FE @ BITHA AR
MHEERERERIEGERIEFRR
m

2023 2022 2021
2023%F 20225 202145

Number of work-related fatalities
TTHHAH
Lost days due to work injury

RIBERIEAR

The Group believes that the health and safety of its
employees are of paramount importance. The Group
believes that all incidents are preventable and takes
a proactive approach through risk identification and
mitigation. The Group has formulated policies on
production, environment and employees’ health, outlining a
series of responsibilities and safety measures, including fire
safety systems, electrical and mechanical safety systems,
industrial hygiene management systems and work injury
accident investigation systems to ensure the highest safety
and health standards at the Group, so as to provide a safe
workplace for all employees.

In the Year, the Group was not aware of any material
violations of the relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the provision of a safe working
environment and the protection of employees from
occupational hazards. The Group strictly complied with
local laws and regulations on health and safety, such as the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Treatment
Occupational Diseases. In addition, there were no material
fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in the Year.
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B3 Development and Training

The Group believes that training and education are vital
for utilizing human resources and boosting morale among
the workforce to raise productivity and product quality.
The human resources department manages the training
management system and coordinates with responsible
departments to organize various training events. In the
Year, the Group held five training sessions with a total
training duration of 113 hours. Trainings covered the
employees’ codes of conduct, fire drills, induction training,
chemical safety, hazardous waste treatment and machine
operation, etc. Feedback was collected to better help
employees improve necessary skills.
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Male Female Total

B zZ Bt
Top management 17 9 26
SRERE
Middle management 10 12 22
RRERE
Front-line staff 35 28 63
RIARE T
Total training hours 62 49 M
4815 ) I B
Average training hours 3.00 Ehete] E([cE]
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% of employee training 2023
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Male Female Total

E: % Bt
Top management 12% 24% 36%
BRERE
Middle management 20% 4% 24%
PREREE
Front-line staff 28% 12% 40%
A4 B T
Total training hours 60% 40% 100%
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B4 Labour Standard

B5

The recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying the
personal information of applicants. For instance, the human
resources department collects proof of identification
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfills legal
requirement.

The Group respects and complies with international human
rights principles, such as the United Nations’ Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the convention of the
International Labor Organization (ILO). The Group also
complies with the Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labor
and will not hire minorities who are under 16 years old.
The Group has developed policies against using child labor
and has zero tolerance for all forms of forced, bonded, or
imprisoned labor in our own operations and in our supply
chain. In case child labor and forced labor are found, the
Group will terminate the labor contract with them as soon
as possible and hold the responsible persons accountable.

In the Year, all employees were over the age of 18
and employed in accordance with the provisions of all
applicable laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong
Kong. The Group was not aware of any material violation
of the relevant laws and regulations on prohibiting the
employment of child labor or forced labor. The Group
strictly complied with local laws and regulations relating
to labor standards, such as the Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China and the Regulations on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, the Group did not receive any
material fines or sanctions for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the Year.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and
regulations that govern its business and always adheres to
international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased
procurement processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group has set out clear requirements on selection
and management of suppliers to ensure standardized
management and proper selection of and corporation with
suppliers. In selecting suppliers, the Group will take the
following into consideration: (i) operating license granted
by and registration with the Industry and Commerce
Bureau; (ii) plant size, production capacity and technology
capabilities; (iii) stable quality of production; and (iv)
integrity and reasonableness of prices.
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The suppliers are required to provide information on
the scale of their factories, their production capacity,
quality issues and technology capabilities in the “supplier
questionnaire” prepared by the procurement department
for preliminary screening. Then the Group would establish
a specialized file to record basic information for the
suppliers who meet the requirements, conduct regular
quality inspections and maintain long-term cooperation.
In addition, the Group has worked out stringent quality
control measures to ensure that the production quality
meets customer and regulatory requirements. Quality
control managers conduct detailed quality inspections
on samples provided by suppliers from time to time,
to avoid operational risks caused by quality problems.
Further, the Group will regularly evaluate the performance
indicators of suppliers, such as the product qualified rate
and the punctual shipment, and conduct investigations on
compliance with the legal provisions on avoiding child and
forced labor.

The following table sets out the number of suppliers by
region as at 31 December 2023:
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B6 Product Responsibility

In the Year, the Group complied with all relevant laws
and regulations in relation to product liability and no
products sold by our Group were recalled for safety or
health reasons, nor were there any complaints regarding
product or service quality issues. Products were consistent
with the requirements of the GB/T 19001-2016 quality
management system.

The Group has formulated a quality manual according to the
GB/T 19000-2016 quality management system to ensure
that it provides all customers with high-quality products
and services. The Group's product design, production and
customer service must be carried out in strict accordance
with the quality manual. The Group has also formulated a
series of procedures and operational instructions to ensure
that employees of relevant departments observe regulatory
measures. Meanwhile, the Group has full control of its
outsourced production based on the quality manual.

In addition, the Group’s management team reviews the
quality manual annually to ensure that it is updated in
accordance with changes of operating conditions and
international standards. The Group attaches appropriate
product safety warnings to its products in conspicuous
places and on the packages, to see that the products
manufactured meet safety standards.

The Group’s quality control personnel follow strict quality
assurance processes at all stages of production, from
design, raw materials and manufacturing to packaging
and storage. The Group has utilized continuous quality
assurance, planning control, improvement and other
workable plans throughout all stages of production.
More specifically, the Group places more emphasis
on quality control at earlier stages of production to
discover and resolve quality issues early on. For raw
materials, semi-finished and finished products provided by
subcontractors, random inspections and tests are carried
out by inhouse laboratories. Defective products are stored
separately and sent to the production line or subcontractors
for rework.
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The Group has both external and internal complaint
reporting systems in place. For external complaint
reporting, the Group accepts complaints online or via
other telecommunication channels, such as e-mails
and telephone. For internal complaint reporting, the
employee manual specifies the reporting mechanism and
punishments for violations. Once an internal complaint
is received, the administrative department will carry
out on-site investigation(s), collect evidence, conduct
interviews with witnesses and take necessary disciplinary
actions.

The Group highly values information security and protection
of customer privacy and strictly complies with relevant
national and local laws and regulations. Employees must
comply with all internal guidelines regarding the collection,
processing, transfer, retention and disposal of customers’
personal information in order to safeguard information
security.

The Group has established a detailed intellectual property
management system in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. The system is composed of four
major aspects, namely (i) guidelines; (ii) institutions
and responsibilities; (iii) policies; and (iv) rewards and
punishments.

The Group was not aware of any material violations of
the relevant laws and regulations on product health and
safety, advertising, labeling, right to privacy and remedy
in the Year. The Group strictly complied with local laws
and regulations relating to product liability, such as the
Copyright Ordinance (Chapter 528 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's Republic of
China. In addition, the Group did not receive any material
fines or sanctions in the Year.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is prohibited. The
Group's anti-corruption policies set out the standards of
conduct to which all employees are required to adhere
to promote integrity in the workplace. All employees are
prohibited from offering or accepting money or anything of
value by using work as an excuse or any authority granted
by the Group.

In the Year, the Group provided internal training on
anti-corruption topics to its directors and employees
with reference to the anti-corruption resource website,
to further their understanding of the importance of
anti-corruption and the legal and regulatory provisions.

The Group was not aware of any material violations of the
relevant laws and regulations on prevention of bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering in the Year. The
Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’'s Republic of China. In addition, the Group did
not receive any material fines or sanctions in the Year.

During the Year, the Group has provided 1 hour of
anti-corruption training to its staff. Also, there was no
concluded legal case regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Group or its employees.

Community Investment

The Group has mapped out policies relating to community
investment, financial contributions and donations. The
Group supports projects and plans that meet local
community demands, while aiming to align with the local
culture, heritage and morals.
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To the Shareholders of Kidztech Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages
96 to 179, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional R EFZE AEFE R AN EE H
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the K@ RAHAPGEATERRHE
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These HHZAEZEBEMNEE - LZE =B IR
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the KM BAEBRGATERRLE A
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in formingour E REREIE - H AT € 4t 5 F18
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on REEBFBHE R o M35 & 8 &
these matters. The Key audit matters we identified are: B EEA:

1. Impairment assessment on trade receivables 1. BSREBREREFTHE

2. Impairment assessment on non-financial assets 2. FemEERMBETHE

(i) Impairment assessment on trade receivables (i) BEZEWHIBEREE

Refer to Notes 4(ii)(c), 5(b) and 20 to the consolidated 2B 4R A B 7% 3R I 5E4(0) ()

financial statements. 5(b) )220 -

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for EEEERBER SN B MEE

impairment by estimation of the expected credit losses BRI 9%k B st BB (= B B 18

(“ECL") under requirements of HKFRS 9. This impairment ((EHEEBE])IAEZ S E

test is significant to our audit because the balance of I SRIERE & B8 o A B R E R

trade receivables of approximately RMB247,366,000 as ABEMOBFEREARN R

at 31 December 2023 is material to the consolidated EAER-—T_=F+="A=1+—

financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment BENEBESRERURBEBHBOAR

test involves application of judgement and is based on #5247,366,0007T ¥ 4x & M 7% =

estimates. XMEBEZE - ki EE
B Rk BRI 8 K& FE R A
ERfEEHED -

Our audit procedures included, among others: HZMONBTEFEE(HPEE)
T &I ¢

—  evaluating the design, implementation and operating - WEEEES - KEES
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit ;EBEES TE i 5 &9 4
control, debt collection and estimate of ECL; BAFIZEF R - B

NABER

- assessing the reasonableness of the Group’'s ECL - FERBRETEEARNEL
models by examining the model input used by B F B A R = A SR
management to form such judgements, including Fih EEEEHEES
testing the accuracy of the historical default data, BEANEGEE B4 8
evaluating whether the historical loss rates are FEARABTRZOEENE
appropriately adjusted based on current economic WY EATEERE
conditions variables and assumptions used in each BRI E B 4OE AR R &9 Al
of the economic scenarios and their probability BRAELEEEBESTH
weightings and assessing whether there was an ArmRE R HEgE i
indication of management bias when recognising loss THERE RFAHES
allowances; EEBEREREERER

BERBESETEERE:

- engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review - ZE—Z2HEFERHBHE
the appropriateness of the calculation of ECL, the M EREEBETE
accuracy of the calculations in the model and the MEBEE . BRBAHTHE
market data being adopted on a sample basis; &m%%{?ﬁ (FEA#AEGR)

B 2 B
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

90

Impairment assessment on trade receivables
(Continued)

- checking subsequent settlements after the year end
from the customers; and

- evaluating the adequacy of disclosures in respect of
the impairment review in the consolidated financial
statements.

Impairment assessment of non-financial assets

Refer to Notes 4(ii)(b), 15 and 16 the consolidated financial
statements.

The Group tested the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets for impairment
in accordance with Hong Kong Accounting Standard
36 /mpairment of Assets. This impairment test is
significant to our audit because the aggregated balance
of these non-financial assets amounted to approximately
RMB167,734,000 as at 31 December 2023, which is
material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s impairment test involves application
of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

- assessing the appropriateness of management’s
assessment on identification and allocation of assets
to different cash-generating units (“CGU");

- discussing with the management of the Company
regarding the reasonableness of the valuation
methodology being adopted;

- discussing with the management of the Company
the assumptions and inputs used in determining the
recoverable amounts of the CGU, respectively, and
challenging the reasonableness and relevance of key
assumptions and inputs based on our knowledge of
the business and industry;

- engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review
the appropriateness of the valuation approach and
methodology, the accuracy of the calculations in
the valuation model and the market data used on a
sample basis; and
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

(i) Impairment assessment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

- evaluating the adequacy of disclosures in respect of
the impairment review in the consolidated financial
statements.

Other Information

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are responsible
for the other information. The other information comprises all
the information included in the Company's annual report, but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B % B AR

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee of the Company assists the Directors in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. \We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the Company
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee of the Company with
a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats of related safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the audit committee of
the Company, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number P07348

24/F, Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEsERAMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Bl = - — 5 =S F | F 2

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E-_—
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR TR AR T
Revenue W 25 6 131,409 169,431
Cost of sales & K AR (116,383) (141,101)
Gross profit E F 15,026 28,330
Other income and other gains/ Epug A R H Ak~
(losses), net (E518) %58 7 (9,318) 1,432
Selling expenses HERX (1,619) (898)
Administrative expenses 7B X (35,090) (76,141)
Net impairment losses on trade and & 5 & £ b & Ug 7% 18 B (E
other receivables BB FE (40,736) (24,018)
Loss from operation KREBIE (71,737) (71,295)
Finance costs B & AN 10 (19,621) (10,791)
Loss before tax BR B Al 5 18 (91,358) (82,086)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fref(AR) #&& 11 (6,936) 5,428
Loss for the year FREIE 9 (98,294) (76,658)
Other comprehensive income for £ A H {th 2 H Uk &
the year
[tems that may be reclassified to FE D EEEmAIEA -
profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating # & /& 9} 48 & £ 75 1Y
foreign operations E W =58 4,014 3,842
Total comprehensive loss for FRAZHERAE
the year (94,280) (72,816)
Loss for the year attributable to: A& EEFRNEIE:
— owners of the Company S YNEIE: Z=N (97,994) (76,658)
- non-controlling interests — IR AR RE RS (300) =
(98,294) (76,658)
Total comprehensive loss LWTEFEGEZHEERER
attributable to: 4EEE
- owners of the Company - WNIE Z=WN (93,978) (72,816)
- non-controlling interests - IR RE RS (302) >
(94,280) (72,816)
Loss per share SREE
Basic and diluted EARAREE
(RMB cents) (ANR®E D) 14 (16.8) (14.7)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B M AR O &R

As at 31 December 2023
R-ZB-_=f+=-HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= ST — s
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR®B TR ARBT T
Non-current assets kREBEE

Property, plant and equipment - BEKRFZE 15 141,596 146,887
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 16 26,138 31,248
Intangible assets BREE 17 73 287
Deferred tax assets EEFIEE E 18 - 9,409
Prepayments T8 IR 21 14,091 30,336
181,898 218,167

Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 19 24,545 10,858
Trade receivables 2 5 1 W RIR 20 247,366 327541
Prepayment and other receivables TETFRIE R H b fE W RIE 21 137,654 173,936
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 22 48,899 6,223
458,464 518,558

Current liabilities BB E
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk HAth & R IB 23 136,731 168,815
Amount due to a related company & 1~ — A B Bt & R SR IB 24 962 962
Contract liabilities EHEE 25 890 820
License fee payable EREESR 26 1,867 1,867
Bank and other borrowings R 1T I H A 18 3K 27 143,744 139,834
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 565 2,512
Current income tax liabilities BNERFT S M B & 18,682 18,142
303,441 332,952
Net current assets RBEEFRE 155,023 185,606
Total assets less current liabilities EERABERABES 336,921 403,773
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5 B AR &R

As at 31 December 2023
= =T — f=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR TR ARET T
Non-current liabilities kFBERE
Deferred revenue 5 3E UKz 29 13 502
Deferred tax liabilities REHBEEE 18 - 2,425
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 - 2,496
13 5,423
NET ASSETS EEFHE 336,908 398,350
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital & 7R 30 562 467
Reserves ik & 31(a) 336,648 397,883
337,210 398,350
Non-controlling interests IE 72 % A 2 (302) =
TOTAL EQUITY EEEAEH 336,908 398,350

The consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 179 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

26 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yu Huang
RE
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERSHR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

Foreign Retained
currency eamnings/ Non-
Share Share  Statutory Capital ~ translation Merger Option (accumulated Total  controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses) reserves interests Total
M RERA/
Re  ROEE  iERE  E4HE BERE  AUERE  BRERE (RRER) BEE FERER it
[note 31(cf) (note 31(c)fil)  (note 31(clfii)) note 31(c)(ivi)
(ke (W31
(M 231(c)) (K 231(cli) i) fi)

RMBOOD  RMB0OO  RMB0OD  RMBODD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBO0  RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMB'0D  RMB'OOD
AR#TT  ARETn ARETz ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETn ARETRn ARMTR ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2022 RZ8Z2%-f-B 467 101,378 23239 274,282 1442) (22,103) = 65,942 441,296 - 441763
Total comprehensive loss ~ ER2EFELE
for the year - - - - 3,842 = = (76,658) (72,816) S (72,816)
Recognition of share-based ~ BRABNRHZH 2
payments SE = = - - - - 29,403 - 29,403 - 29403
At 31 December 2022 it it
tZB=t-R 467 101,378 23239 274,282 2400 (22,103) 29403 (10,716) 397883 - 398,350
At 1 January 2023 RZEZZ%-f-A 467 101,378 23239 214,282 2,400 (22,103) 29,403 (10,716) 397,883 - 398,350
Total comprehensive loss ~ £M2EFELE
for the year - - - - 4,016 - - (97994) (93,978) (302) (94,280)
Placing of shares under BE-RRERERD
general mandate 9% 33072 - - - - - - 33,072 - 33,167
Share issue expenses BOEE - (329) - - - - - - (329) - (329)
At 31 December 2023 iut Jmt3
$=A=t-R 562 134121 2239 214,282 6,416 (22,103) 29,403 (108,710) 336,648 (302) 336,908

99



Kidztech Holdings Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

mEBREMRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_"A=+—HIFE

Annual Report 2023

FLOWS

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR AR T T
Cash flows from operating activities K& FZEFESHLARE
Loss before tax B 35 A 5 1B (91,358) (82,086)
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERZENTE
equipment 12,084 16,420
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 2,762 5,758
Amortisation of intangible assets | ERE 214 239
Net impairment losses on trade and 2 5 & H ftb & U 5K I8 R A
other receivables BB FE 40,743 24,018
Written off of intangible assets MsE B & E - 2,286
Impairment loss on inventories FERERESRE 8,569 6,586
Interest income A E A - (5)
Finance costs 87 7 X AN 19,621 10,791
Gain on early termination of lease REREHAEN R (240) (7)
Loss on disposals of property, plant HEWE BMEKZED
and equipment BB 9,566 1,094
Loss on disposal of right-of-use HEFRAREENER
assets - 340
Amortisation of deferred revenue iR & WY 7 B 5 (489) (527)
Share-based payment expenses AR A 2 RIBER X - 29,403
Operating cash flows before working LEELECEBPINLEERERE
capital changes 1,472 14,310
Change in inventories GFEEY (22,256) 5,794
Change in trade receivables BoRWKRIEZ S 40,751 (226,657)
Change in prepayments and other TE AT R I8 K H fth 8 W RRIE
receivables #H) 39,820 (83,326)
Change in trade and other payables Bk HMmEMNKEBEE (18,799) 1,851
Change in contract liabilities AEHBEEE 70 (1,075)
Cash generated from/(used in) KEmRE/(FTRA)RE
operations 41,058 (289,103)
Income tax paid =ENRIEEE - (111)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBHAE (AR FE
operating activities 41,058 (289,214)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-_ZT_=F+-A=+—HILEFE

2023 2022
—E-= ST — s
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR ARBT T
Cash flows from investing activities REZFHFMERERE
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BELXE
equipment (55) =
Proceeds from disposals of property, LEWE BMERZEMSBRE
plant and equipment - 400
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use  H & £ A # & & Fr {5 7 8
assets - 572
Refund in prepayments T8 3R IE B 3K - 21,759
Interest received 2 U A S - 5
Net cash (used in)/from investing REFEE(FH) FEBESEE
activities (55) 22,736
Cash flows from financing activities BZEZEFMERERE
Repayment of borrowings EEBR (10,729) (21,701)
Interest paid A A (5,101) (6,433)
Principal and interest element of HENZN A R EHS
lease payments (2,054) (8,085)
(Repayment to)/advance from (BERERE)RERK
shareholders (13,283) 22,329
Proceeds from issue of shares BIRGOAERIE 33,167 -
Share issue expenses RHETRS (329) =
Net cash from/(used in) financing BMEFHRES (FTABRESTFE
activities 1,671 (13,890)
Net increase/(decrease) incashand BRERREZEEY
cash equivalents @, CRd) B 42,674 (280,368)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E#R & KR EEEY
of year 6,223 286,512
Effect of changes in foreign INEERZHHNTE
exchange rate 2 79
Cash and cash equivalents at EREERBESEEY
end of year 48,899 6,223
Analysis of cash and cash REeERBESEEBYIN
equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITRIR D &% 48,899 6,223
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

102

General Information

Kidztech Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands on 25 October 2019
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands. The address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company's shares (the “Share(s)”) were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange"”) on 18 March 2020 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and
its subsidiaries (together, “the Group”) are principally
engaged in manufacturing and sales of toys, raw
materials and electronic parts. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Adoption of New and Revised Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKSA 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single
transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Adoption of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had
no material impact on the Group’s financial position
and performance for the current and prior year and/
or the disclosures set out in the consolidated financial
statements.

Change in accounting policy

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)-Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong
Kong which are obliged to pay LSP to employees
under certain circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group
makes mandatory MPF contributions to the trustee
who administers the assets held in a trust solely for
the retirement benefits of each individual employee.
Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF
contributions was allowed under the Employment
Ordinance (Cap.57). In June 2022, the Government of
the HKSAR gazetted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”) which abolishes the use of the accrued
benefits derived from employers’ mandatory MPF
contributions to offset severance payment and LSP
(the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In
addition, under the Amendment Ordinance, the
last month’s salary immediately preceding the
Transition Date (instead of the date of termination
of employment) is used to calculate the portion of
LSP in respect of the employment period before the
Transition Date.

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_E_=F+—_F=+—HIEFE

2. RGHFEI REBTTERY
T mEER (&)

(a)

(b)
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2. Adoption of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

(b) Change in accounting policy (Continued)

2. RGO REBETERY

B EER(R)

(b) EFtBEZ2E8 (&)

104

Change in accounting policy as a result of
application of the HKICPA guidance on the
accounting implications of the abolition of the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”)-Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” which provides guidance
for the accounting for the offsetting mechanism and
the impact arising from abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of this,
the Group has implemented the guidance published
by the HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation
retrospectively so as to provide more reliable and
more relevant information about the effects of the
offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on
the Group's LSP liability and staff cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Adoption of New and Revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(Continued)

(c) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective:

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE

ZEZ=F+ZRA=+—HLEE

2. RGO REBFTERY
T EmEER (&)

(c)

B 5B 2 MO
TREBTERHUBR
=

AEBESREFEA T
B 58 v 1B 15 K A R # AT
RBEBEATEEWBREE
Al :

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
KT Bk 2% R
e S A A AR

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

1 January 2024

ERAGHEARIREI RN EEIERRDAERD —E_WFE-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
BERGHENEIR(BIRN)MNFERZENFERDEE —E_WME-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability in a sales and leaseback 1 January 2024
AERMBRELENE16R(BAIR)—SRERZEEAR —E_WE-A—H
Revised of Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (revised) presentation of financial statements- 1 January 2024
classification by borrower of a term loan that contains a repayment on demand
clause (“HK Int 5 (Revised)")
EEREESR(KERDUBHRRZEN —EXRAAHERERERRINTEH —E_WMFE-A—H

ERXNoB(EEZBER(BETD

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements

1 January 2024

BEREQHEUNETR L BENBREZRNFE7TR (BT R HEARE L —E-_WMFE-A—H
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BEREGHENENRBITR) —RZ A H o —Z-_nF¥—-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined by

investor and its associate or joint venture the HKICPA
ERMBRELNEIORREEGHENEBR (BTN REERABERAGE HEEGHIAE

BOEZRAMEERELRA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the directors of the Company
anticipate that the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.
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Material Accounting Policy Information

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA,
and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB") and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgments in the process of applying the
accounting policies. The areas involving critical judgments
and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to these consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are
set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the entity. The Group
has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s
returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are
de-consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair
value of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (ii)
the Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary
plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the Group.

Separate financial statements

In the Company’'s statement of financial position, an
investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment
loss, unless the investment is classified as held for
sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received or
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.
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3. Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

108

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
functional currency of the operating subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), while the functional currency of the other
subsidiaries of the Group is RMB. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is the functional currency of the Company and the
operating subsidiaries and the Group’s presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies
are translated at the exchange rates at the end of
each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from
this translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date
on which the company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary items
that are measured at fair values in foreign currencies
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates
when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Material Accounting Policy Information 3. ERGBEER(HE)
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued) SHERER)
(¢c) Translation on consolidation (c) EHRETHRE

The results and financial position of all the Group @ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@&izﬁﬁﬁiﬂg

entities that have a functional currency different from BAR 2 Fffﬁ% EEZ

the Company’s presentation currency are translated ﬁéﬁéfiﬁﬁf%ﬁkhE%kﬁkj?75

into the Company’s presentation currency as follows: ANBMEARQFENEY

-  Assets and liabilities for each statement of = Tﬁ%\EIJZEﬁi}%HﬂR
financial position presented are translated at TANZEERBER
the closing rate at the date of that statement of uiﬁjﬁ%# MRBEHZ
financial position; WmExRmE

- Income and expenses are translated at average - WARHAXEZEFHE
exchange rates (unless this average is not a KB BERIF L FH
reasonable approximation of the cumulative E%ﬁ;tx%ﬁ HE
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction KWERZ Rt E
dates, in which case income and expenses ZRENE EIB
are translated at the exchange rates on the I Wfilﬁi\ﬁ B’
transaction dates); and SHEZERBE)

&

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised - MBERUELEZEN

in the foreign currency translation reserve. ZHRAENIEBERE
PR -
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3.

110

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation (Continued)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in foreign
entities and of borrowings are recognised in the
foreign currency translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the
gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property,
plant and equipment are carried at costs less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their cost less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line
basis. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings 30-35 years
Leasehold improvements 2-5 years
Mould and machinery 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture and office equipment 3-5 years
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the
end of each reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction and plant and machinery pending installation,
and is stated at cost less impairment losses. Depreciation
begins when the relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets
are available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use assets is
calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. The principal annual rates are as follows:

Land use right 2%-3%
Buildings 20%-50%
Motor vehicles 20%-33%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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3. Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. To determine the
incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received;

= uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the group entities, which do not have recent
third-party financing, and

- makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point to
determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-
term leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12
months or less. Low-value assets are assets of value below
US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease.

Intangible assets
(a) Trademarks

Trademarks are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 5 years.

(b) Software

Acquired computer softwares are capitalised on the
basis of costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. Softwares are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of 3-5 years.
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3.

114

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)
(c) License rights

License rights are stated at historical cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. They are initially measured at
the fair value of the consideration given to acquire
the license at the time of the acquisition, which
represents the capitalised present values of the fixed
minimum payment to be made upon commencement
of the license contract and in subsequent years.

The Group amortises intangible assets with limited
useful lives of 3 to 5 years for trademarks and
software and over the terms of the license right
contracts of 1 to 3 years using straight-line method.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. An internally
generated intangible asset arising from the Group's
development project (relating to the design and developing
of new or improved utility models and utility patents) are
recognised only if all of the following conditions are met:

- An asset is created that can be identified (such as
software and new processes);

- It is probable that the asset created will generate
future economic benefits; and

- The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Internally generated intangible assets are stated at cost
less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful lives of one to five years. Where no
internally generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average basis. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of all production overhead
expenditure, and where appropriate, subcontracting
charges. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the
Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets but has not retained control on the assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a
trade date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset
is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
asset within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially recognised at fair value, plus
directly attributable transaction costs except in the case of
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets of the Group are classified as financial
assets at amortised cost.

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less loss allowance for
expected credit losses.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with
the respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an
amount equal to the expected credit losses that result
from all possible default events over the expected life
of that financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit
losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses
(Continued)

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade receivables) has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at
an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit
losses that represents the expected credit losses that
result from default events on that financial instrument that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to
the required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration is
due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses and are reclassified to receivables when the right to
the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised if the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognizes the related revenue. In
such cases, a corresponding receivable would also be
recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of
unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method.
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118

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’'s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is
any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets
of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified
in a contract with a customer with reference to the
customary business practices and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised product or service exceeds
one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms
of a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over
time if:

(@) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance;

(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue
is recognised by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation.
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the product or service.

3.

—=F®R HIEZERERAA

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE Z_=ZF+_A=+—HLHFE

EXSTBERER (&

EXZITH

HEm T EEEFHEREENK
EFﬁ*ﬁ%f;é:ZéF‘tP%ﬁﬂ
HRERZEMEDN - NA Al E
TR EZ T ERE WRENR
BEEEITKNAAR -

REFF & WK S

WaR RS2 ERFEMNKRE
BEFRINMAKMA] BrR(E
FECBETEBEARRF=ZSTNR
BNEe@E IEPIREHEE
EAHEREARE ZEHNHR
BE-—Fmen KESRE
ABREBINTZEELRHE -

& B E B E kR R IE
GlEESEEZ FTEFPMTKERLD
EEREREE HTEa48
BREZENBEBRANEL &
HWETTR —BRHEARxRE
—RHEETK - MBATER

BHEEDIR —BREATK:

(a) S F B U R K R A
£ 181/ 40 P 12 1 ) 7 25 ¢

b)) EAKENEDOTREE
jZE&E_IE/EQEA?ﬁEULjZ
BHRREXEFEHNEE:
5%

c) BEAKEBNEBAOTALE
BE-—HEAKRERENR
RemEE hRASEY
CESRIEETREOENTT
8 A58 B ]LTT N R
EF -

WEHNEETBRN —BRHEAE
X H&ﬁﬁ?&ﬂ%am}iﬁ%ﬁﬁ
HETWEE®ER - T8 - K
HERBEFERE R RBEIES
R

119



Kidztech Holdings Limited Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e B R M R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
ElE e = B =S =

3.

120

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

The Group’s revenue is recognised as follows:

(i) Sales of toy cars, raw materials and electronic
parts

Customers obtain control of the toy cars, raw
materials and electronic parts when the goods
are delivered to and have been accepted by them.
Revenue is therefore recognised upon when the
customers accepted the toy cars, raw materials and
electronic parts.

(ii) Procurement and selling of raw materials and
electronic parts

Customers obtain control of the raw materials and
electronic parts when the customers received the
goods directly delivered from suppliers. There is
generally only one performance obligation which is
fulfiled when the customers accepted the goods.
Revenue is therefore recognised upon the customers
accepted the raw material and electronic parts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Other income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method.

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the year in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
year and are measured at the amounts expected to be
paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations in
the statement of financial position.

Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage
of employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged in profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.
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3. Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

122

Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Pension obligations (Continued)

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who
are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in
Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a ceiling
of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000 and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The
assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the
employer MPF contributions expected to be offsetted
as a deemed employee contribution towards the LSP
obligation in term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it
is measured on a net basis. The estimated amount
of future benefit is determined after deducting
the negative service cost arising from the accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions
that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs and involves the
payment of termination benefits.

(b)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

(d) Housing funds, medical insurances and other
social insurances

Employees of the group companies in the PRC
are entitled to participate in various government
supervised housing funds, medical insurance and
other employee social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds
based on certain percentages of the salaries of the
employees, subject to certain ceiling. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the
contributions payable in each year.

(e) Bonus entitlements

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised
as a liability when the Group has a present contractual
or constructive obligation as a result of services
rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of the
obligation can be made.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of non
market-based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’'s estimate of shares that will
eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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124

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The Group also provides employees with the ability to
purchase the Company’s ordinary shares at a discount to
the current market value. The Group records an expense,
based on the fair value of the discount related to shares
expected to vest (taking in account the post vesting
transfer restrictions), on a straight- line basis over the
vesting period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined
by applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of
the borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the
Group that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them
with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Repayment of a grant related to income is applied first
against any unamortised deferred income set up in respect
of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any
such deferred income, or where no deferred income exists,
the repayment is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by
increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the
deferred income by the amount repayable. The cumulative
additional depreciation that would have been recognised
in profit or loss to date in the absence of the grant is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses
or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in profit or
loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case
the deferred tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources and assessing the performance of the
Group’s various lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of productions processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and other intangible assets
except deferred income tax asset, investments, inventories
and receivables, to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating
unit is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset or cash-
generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditures expected to settle the obligation. The
discount rate used to determine the present value is a
pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.
The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.
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Material Accounting Policy Information
(Continued)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and
are reflected in the financial statements. Events after the
reporting period that are not adjusting events are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements when material.

Critical judgements and key estimates

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements (other than those involving
estimates) that have a significant impact on the amounts
recognised and to make estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revised on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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Critical judgements and key estimates 4. BRHER EEM/EF(E)
(Continued)
(i) Critical judgements in applying (i) FEAETBUERRNERERE
accounting policies FI R
In the process of applying accounting policies, the FEBSFBERE 3
directors have made the following judgements that EELHNUT S REGE 8B
have the most significant effect on the amounts HEFHERONSEEE
recognised in the consolidated financial statements EEAZENAEGGET
(apart from those involving estimations, which are X R EE W H E R
dealt with below). Hh) o
(a) Significant increase in credit risk (a) FEERBBEZEIZM
As explained in note 3, ECL are measured as A ft 3 P AR R
an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage BEHEEBSBERER
1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage F1ME BB B E W12
3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its REHEEEBNKE
credit risk has increased significantly since initial 2R FIR R E E
recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what MEHEREEBE
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. NBETEDN - BEE
In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset ENEERRE VS
has significantly increased the Group takes into R 1% F8E L
account qualitative and quantitative reasonable & EE N F2MREL -
and supportable forward-looking information. BERMBREELE
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(i) Critical judgements in applying
accounting policies (Continued)

(b)

132

Revenue recognition — principal versus
agent

Since the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has engaged in the procurement and sales
raw materials and electronic parts business.
With the long established relationship with the
suppliers in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the
Group sources for and sells the raw materials
and electronic parts that suits the customers’
specific requirement. Certain of these trading
transactions are arranged in an indent basis and
the Group does not bear inventory risks but the
credit risk.

The directors of the Group considered that the
Group has not obtained the control of those
goods being sold to the customers in the course
of these transactions, in addition, the Group is
not primarily responsible for fulling the obligation
to provide the those goods. Based on the above,
it was concluded that the Group is acting as an
agent in these sale transactions, and therefore,
revenue from these sale transactions are
accounted as an agency service income and the
net proceeds (sales amount less cost of sales) is
recognised as revenue. In determining whether
the Group is acting as a principal or as an agent,
the directors are required to exercise significant
judgement and to consider all relevant facts and
circumstances of these trading business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year,
are discussed below.

(a) Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful
lives, residual values and related depreciation
and amortisation charges for the Group's
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets. This estimate is
based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets of similar nature and functions.
The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are
different to those previously estimated, or it will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned
or sold.
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

134

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(b)

Recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amounts of these assets have
been determined based on the higher of value-
in-use calculations and fair value less costs to
sell. The valuations require use of judgements
and estimates on market data adopted.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets
were approximately RMB141,596,000,
RMB26,138,000 and RMB73,000 respectively
(2022: RMB146,887,000, RMB31,248,000 and
RMB287,000 respectively).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(c)

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of the trade and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and
the past collection history of each debtor.
Impairments arise where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement
and estimates. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of the
trade and other receivables and doubtful debt
expenses in the year in which such estimate has
been changed.

During the year ended 31 December 2023,
impairment losses on trade and other
receivables of approximately RMB40,743,000
(2022: RMB24,018,000) was recognised in the
profit or loss.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of trade and other receivables
were approximately RMB247,366,000
and RMB38,907,000 respectively (2022:
RMB327,541,000 and RMB86,459,000
respectively).
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4. Critical judgements and key estimates
(Continued)

136

(ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less estimated costs of completion
and selling expense. These estimates are
based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of manufacturing
and selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The
Group will reassess the estimates by the end of
each reporting period.

During the year ended 31 December
2023, impairment losses on inventories of
approximately RMB8,569,000 (2022: impairment
losses on inventories of approximately
RMB6,586,000) was recognised in the profit or
loss.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying
amounts of inventories were approximately
RMB24,545,000 (2022: RMB10,858,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects
on the Group's financial performance.

(a) Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the Group entities of HK$ and RMB.

Some of the business transactions, assets and
liabilities in a Group's entity with functional currency
of HK$, are denominated in currencies such as
United States Dollars (“US$") and EURO (“EUR").
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the risk of movements in exchange rates between
HK$ and US$ to be insignificant since HK$ is pegged
against US$. The foreign currency risk arose with
the movements in exchange rates between HK$ and
EUR is also considered insignificant as the amounts
denominated in EUR is minimal.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_E_=F+—_F=+—HIEFE

BF %5 L B o B

AREBEBFEEMHZETH
Rk NERE - EERRE R
HESREBRENMERR K&
ErMERRERREREFIZEER
RIS EABANMEME - I
—r/\%iﬂ’“ﬁ$$@ﬁ7ﬁki’i
WAL E XA T A2 -
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SEERNNREEEET
RARMEE  BH T A
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REEBNHBOEBR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE-T

—EFt+-_H=+—HLEE

5. Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

138

The carrying amount of the cash and bank balances,
trade receivables and other receivables included
in the consolidated statement of financial position
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk in relation to the Group’s financial assets.

The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk
as 63% (2022: 67%) of the Group's trade receivables
were due from 3 (2022: 3) customers. The directors
of the Company are of the opinion that the credit
risk exposure in relation to these customers is not
significant as these customers had sound financial
position for whom there was no recent history of
default.

It has policies in place to ensure that sales are made
to customers with an appropriate credit history.

The credit risk on cash and bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets
on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period
by comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

- internal credit rating;

- actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

- significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrowers.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. Financial risk management (Continued)

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(c)

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset
is when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a receivable for
write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where
loans or receivables have been written off, the Group,
if practicable and economical, continues to engage
in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that
it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash
flows, of the Group’s financial liabilities is as follows:

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

5. BHEREREGE)
(b) FE =R (&)

(c)

fid (8 75 A R & #9193
e BB B30 B @ AlRR
EERBRABBEN - BY
FHEERAHNMNKE
BOOR M X 31| - Al &

BRAT T R AT & B
1B T) # & &R B3R
B S Bl g [ 2 5 R 0R

REBE SRR

AEENBRRABEHRER
EREEHARBESHNR
NHERERTEREFHE
MEEBRHERERARDE

AEE SR EE D 5
EREBBRSREAN
m -

)

i

=

5

IS

i

J )
eI+
o N3 nh 3¢

Total contractual undiscounted cash flow

BENFEBRERE
On demand
Carrying  or within Between1 Between 2

amounts 1year and2years and5 years Total

REX
REE Z-FR -EWER —ZIER EH)
—EC=% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2023 TZA=t+-H ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR AR%TR ARETR
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 143,744 143,744 - - 143,744
Trade and other payables BOREMEMTE 115,883 115,883 - - 115,883
Lease liabilities HEEE 565 576 - - 576
License fee payable EREEE 1,867 1,867 - - 1,867
Amount due to a related company ER-—HEELARE 962 962 - - 962
263,021 263,032 - - 263,032
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

5. Financial risk management (Continued) 5.

(c) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bt iE ke B I (4])
(c) RBESRMK (&)

Total contractual undiscounted cash flow

BANFERBELTRE
On demand
Carrying orwithin ~ Between 1 Between 2
amounts Tyear and2years andb years Total
EAE %-FR —-ZAER —ZAER &3t
—E--F RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
31 December 2022 +-A=t-H ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR®TR ARETT
Bank and other borrowings RATREAM 5K 139,834 139,834 - - 139,834
Trade and other payables BHREMERNE 146,362 146,362 - - 146,362
Lease liabilities HEBE 5,008 2,848 2,588 - 5,436
License fee payable ENRES 1,867 1,908 - - 1,908
Amount due to a related company e —MAYAF 962 962 - - 962
294033 291914 2,588 - 294502
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FZR= bz
The Group's exposure to interest-rate risk arises from REEHMNERRKRER
its bank deposits and borrowings. These deposits and ERTERRER- a%%
borrowings bear interests at variable rates varied with TR EERBIEERIET

the then prevailing market condition.

As at 31 December 2023,

if the interest rate on

MBI R FEF RS o
=%+ = A

140

cash at banks and borrowings increased/decreased
by 0.5% with all other variables held constant, the
Group's post-tax losses for the year would have
been RMB54,000 higher/lower (31 December 2022:
RMB80,000 higher/lower) mainly as a result of
increase in interest income from cash at bank and
increase in interest expense from borrowings with
variable rates.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest rate risks.

XA (1%
= [

|4H

H: Wik 7TH <

K f& 5% F = & mm
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Financial risk management (Continued) 5.

(e) Fair values

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the carrying
amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement
of financial position approximate their respective fair
values.

(f) Financial instruments by category
The carrying amounts of each of the category of

the Group’s financial instruments at the end of the
reporting period are as follows

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

B 7 [ B i B (4

(e) A¥E
RZBE-_=FEK_T=- =
F+-_A=1+—"8 R&
& B AR R R BT R B A A
SEEeMEEAESREE
MEEmMBEHEEZENAFE
BEREA -

(f) ®RENS2z2E€MIA

AEBEZERNEMITA

REmEHARZBEEMELDT

2023 2022
—E=-= g

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARETT

Financial assets SRMEE
Financial assets at amortised REHEKATENSREE
cost (including cash and cash PREASEESEEY)
equivalents) 335,172 420,223
Financial liabilities = =R
Financial liabilities at amortised ~ R#EHEKX R EN SR EE
cost 262,456 288,832
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

6. Revenue 6. Wz
2023 2022
—EZ=F —_F- -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB TR AR T
Revenue from contracts with REBEBUBREER
customers within the scope of FE1IFBEEBANEFELN
HKFRS 15 B9 U 2
Sales of toy cars fHEEE 126,340 130,254
Sales of raw materials and HERMBRETEH
electronic parts - 33,165
Procurement and selling of BREE K SHEREM B &
raw-materials and electronic parts BEFTMH 5,069 6,022
131,409 169,431

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

KEEPAHNHEmE ST :

2023 2022
—EZ=F —_F- -
RMB’000 RMB’000
Segment 2 B AR T AREF T
Geographical markets it B 5
Mainland China A A - 42,843
Hong Kong &% 131,409 126,588
Total ot 131,409 169,431
Major products FTEEM
Smart toy vehicles BeeBEE 126,340 41,308
Traditional toys BEHRITEA - 88,946
Raw materials and electronic parts BEMBEREFZH 5,069 39,177
Total #Er 131,409 169,431
Timing of revenue recognition BRKENER
At a point in time WE— B 2 131,409 169,431
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Other income and other gains/(losses),
net

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

Ht AR H iz (8
B

2023 2022
—E-=F —_ T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR AR F T
Interest income A B WA - 5
Government grants* KT % Bh * 535 864
Exchange (losses)/gains, net B (FiE) s F58 (531) (1,104)
Rental income HEWA - 721
Gains on sale of B BE R
scrap materials - 1,652
Loss on disposals of property, HEWE - HMELREN
plant and equipment & 18 (9,566) (1,094)
Gain on early termination of REKIEAEN K=
lease 240 7
Loss on disposal of right-of- LEFREEENEIE
use assets - (340)
Others H i 721
(9,318) 1,432
@ Government grants represent subsidies from Government & AT 8 B 15 & B Al 1T &

of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region under
the Employment Support Scheme. At the end of the
reporting period, there is no unfulfilled conditions nor other
contingencies attached to the government grants

Segment information

The Group is principally engaged in manufacturing and
sales of toy cars, raw materials and electronic parts and
procurement and selling of raw materials and electronic
parts. Management reviews the operating results of the
business as one operating segment to make decisions
about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the executive
directors of the Company regard that there is only one
operating segment which is used to make strategic
decisions. Revenue and profit before income tax are
the measures reported to the executive directors of the
Company for the purpose of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as those described in note 3 to the financial
statements. Segment non-current assets do not include
financial instruments and deferred tax assets.

BT AR 4% [ R 34 26 | 5t &) 4R
MR RIEHR BE
il BE I A B0 OR 2 AR IR 1 2K
Hib sk A E

o EER

AEBETEREEE BEMH

ETTHRERHEENREK
BRHEERMHAREFZMH -
EEEEHNERREXERS
HERS—EARLE D MEL
BRODEMRE - At AR
AIRTESRS EA—EH
VAYE SR BE MR ERVRE DA -
W REABHABFN I E
BOERKRRIGEMETA
RAIMITEEWRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

8. Segment information (Continued)

Geographical information

8. ZHEMAE)
WV E

Revenue Non-current assets
W 2= kRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022

—EgE-=F —E-_—- —E-=F T
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBETIT AR®TRT ARETT
Mainland China FRE A D - 42,843 178,611 203,078
Hong Kong BB 131,409 126,588 3,287 5,680
131,409 169,431 181,898 208,758

The Group’s customer base included five (2022: two)
customers with whom transactions have exceeded 10% of
its revenue during the year is set out below:

AEBEFPEREBREAA(Z
Eo_F MRB)EP BHEE
THXZEBARAEEFARA

10% @ #HF 0T :

2023 2022

—E-=F —_E-_—
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T AR F T
Customer A ZEA 30,082 N/A
i@ A
Customer B ZFB 22,297 N/A
i A
Customer C ®FEC 20,675 21,605
Customer D =FD 18,657 N/A
i@ A
Customer E EFE 16,617 N/A
i@ A
Customer F ZEF N/A 60,107

B A
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RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

Loss for the year 9. FREHIE
2023 2022
—EZ=F —Eg-—
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® T ARETTT

Allowance for inventories FEEE

(included in cost of sales) (FHASH & B A 8,569 6,586
Raw materials and goods used EFEARMBREY 93,221 110,492
Staff costs (including directors’ BEIRAN(BEESHE)

emoluments)
— Salaries, bonus and allowance - ¥ BAKERL 6,537 7,524
— Share-based payments expenses - AR Z2RAE - 29,403
— Retirement benefits scheme — SRR 4@ A & &) 6 R (Bt EE)

contributions (note) 163 6523
Depreciation of property, plant and Y BB R E &G AE

equipment, right-of-use assets and BENEREREE

amortisation of intangible assets B 3 55 15,060 22,417
Royalty expenses BEERZ 1,453 4,478
Subcontracting charges "BEEH 13,966 4,135
Freight charge and transportation EBERERMY

expenses 14 15
Auditor's remuneration 1% BX R %7 B
— Audit services - BTG 1,000 1,000
— Non-audit services - FEZRB 100 100
Note: B 5 -

Contributions to the defined contribution retirement schemes by
the Group for its employees are fully and immediately vested in
the employees once the contributions are made. There are no
contributions forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees
who leave the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution.
Hence, there is no such an issue whether forfeited contributions
may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

AEEAEREBREHEEFORNKE
SIER 2R RIELHFRRE2H
FAEEBERER - HNETEE
BZAEHAMERENES  AEEY
EOGUWEM MR At X FE
REBTELEAEREERURE
RERFOKFZEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10. Finance costs 10. @& KA

2023 2022

—EZ=F —_F- -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT T AR T
Interest expenses on bank borrowings R 77 f& X &9 A & 5 X2 6,327 5,597
Interest expenses on other borrowings H 4th {& ZAY F B 5 2 7,995 3,661
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAEBENF B 199 495
Others H i 5,100 1,038
19,621 10,791

1.

146

Income tax expense/(credit)

1. FIEHMA% (E%)

2023 2022
—E-=F —=F- -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Current tax — PRC Enterprise BNEAFR T8 - P R b %
Income Tax Fr 15 %t
— Over-provision in prior year -BAEFEHRERE (48) (1,180)
(48) (1,180)
Deferred tax (note 18) iR FE B 18 ([ 5518) 6,984 (4,248)
6,936 (5,428)
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as AAalRBEREFEEAAER

an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of Cayman lIslands and, accordingly, is
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax. Under the
current laws of the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), entities
incorporated in BVI are not subject to income tax.

MeBeadMKRIRERRE
RAd AHERRHAANFEE

BHEME

Boo IRIEEB R LR

E(XBEXER] B ATHNE
R-NEABREZHEEEMAKL
MERERAMMAMEN -
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Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group is
eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated entity in
the Group, namely Kidztech Toys Manufacturing Limited
("Kidztech HK"), to be taxed at the two tiered profits
tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable on the
first HK$2,000,000 of assessable profits at 8.25% and
assessable profits above this threshold will be subject
to a rate of 16.5% (2022: same). Hong Kong profits tax
of the other Hong Kong incorporated group entities has
been provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax
was made as the Group’s Hong Kong entities either has no
assessable profits or has adequate tax losses to set off its
assessable profits.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (“EIT
Law"), the EIT rate for domestic enterprises and foreign
invested enterprises is 25%. Kidztech (Guangdong)
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. (“Kidztech Intelligent”,
formerly known as Kidztech Intelligent Technology Co.,
Ltd.), the Group's operating subsidiary in the PRC, was
awarded the National High-tech Enterprise Certificate
which is effective for three years commencing on 1
January 2020 with applicable income tax rate being 15%
for the years from 2020 to 2023. All the other PRC entities
of the Group are subject to EIT at a rate of 25%.

11.

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_E_=F+—_F=+—HIEFE

PR BiBI< (%) (&)

RBE-TE-_=F+=-A=+—
BEFE AEBEEERRS
—EAEBEREBEMA LD
ERAETTEmAEEAR
NE([EBTLE]) LB A
BRMEGRABE B &
2,000,0007% JT &) F& &% 7 ) F1 15
1#£8.25% M) Bt R H AN TR 0 M
Bz R ESRT R A AR
16.5% M Bl R (Z T = —F :
[B) 0 A Bt R o H b 30 & B sk
R EBERBNGTERM
i A B 1%16.5% M & K 5t e &
BRSHEE ARAEED
BEEERTETMERTES
MERHREEBEKEELER
Tomf I EREENGH
TEH B -

BEPBEPEMESRE(EE
FrERHED) BRAGERINE
TEMMBH XA - A&
ERFEEENNBE AR T T
E(BER)ESERBEERARG(HE
TESE BT T ETER
BRBRMHERAERFTHERS
FRECEFE RZT=ZZT
F—A—BEAZFHR A=
TE-TFE T -_=—FHEHN
WA BME A% - AEE
FrEEMmPEEREAK2%H
REMMDERMSH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

11. Income tax expense/(credit) (Continued) 1.

148

The reconciliation between the income tax and the loss

PR BiBi (%) (&)

FIT 15 0 B2 B 75 BT &S 1B 2 3 BR 40

before tax is as follows: i
2023 2022
—E-=F —_ET-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR F T
Loss before tax B %5 Al &S 18 (91,358) (82,086)
Calculated at applicable tax rate BEAMEGFE (15,074) (13,544)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible i IE B &Y M = A~ A #1068
for tax purpose X B R & 7,864 5,892
Tax effect of income that is not BRI U A B BT &
taxable (336) (1,056)
Over-provision in prior year BEFEBRBRE (48) (1,180)
Effect of different tax rates of MBARKMEXERE X E
subsidiaries 4,806 333
Tax effect of temporary difference WEERNEFEZED
not recognised T 2 5,694 =
Tax effect of tax losses not WEERAHDRIEBENT B
recognised wE 4,030 4,127
Income tax expense/(credit) FAMGBHRMAS,(E%)
for the year 6,936 (5,428)
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Directors’ and five highest paid

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

12. EERTEREHFMAL

individuals’ emoluments [0
The emoluments of each director were as follows: ZEEMNEHMOT
Salaries,
allowances Contribution
and other to pension
Fee benefits scheme Total
e 2RR g
He Ht A ¥ @t
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
i ARETR ARETT ARETTL ARETT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Yu Huang REEE - 1,000 16 1,016
Mr. Zhu Qiang RBEHE - 163 - 163
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BFEa+ - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
directors
Mr. He Weidong faT R % & 109 - - 109
Mr. Gong Lan EREE 109 - - 109
Ms. Wang Shiling Tt 109 - - 109
Total for the year ended 31 BE-Z-=F1-f
December 2023 = t—-BIEFE S 327 1,163 16 1,506
Executive directors UHES
Mr. Pui Lik Leung Kenny BRlm s 1 - 180 - 180
Mr. Yu Huang RELE - 840 18 858
Mr. Zhu Qiang REEHE 2 - 116 8 124
Ms. He Minhua mMEELL 3 = = = =
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. Zheng Jingyun BHEnL - - - -
Independent non-executive BUEHTEES
directors
Mr. He Weidong MEREE 103 - - 103
Mr. Gong Lan EREE 4 77 - = 77
Ms. Zhao Weiwei BEELL 26 S = 26
Ms. Wang Shiling Tkt 103 - - 103
Total for the year ended 31 S
December 2022 ST-AEFELH 309 1,136 26 147
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

12. Directors’ and five highest paid
individuals’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

1 Mr. Pui Lik Leung Kenny resigned as executive director on

23 March 2022.

2 Mr. Zhu Qiang was appointed as executive director of the

Company on 23 March 2022.

8 Ms. He Minhua resigned as executive director of the

Company on 31 May 2022.

4 Mr. Gong Lan was appointed as independent non-executive
director of the Company on 23 March 2022.

5 Ms. Zhao Weiwei resigned as an independent director of the

Company on 23 March 2022.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the
year included 1 director who is Mr. Yu Huang (2022: no
director) whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 4
employees (2022: 5 employees) individuals are set out

below:

12. EERTEREHFMAL
< (&)

B 5 -

1 BREGEER=ZZTE=_=_F=
BZ+=HBEHITES -

2 REEER-_EBE-__F=H
—+=BEZEEEXRRHIT
EFE o

3 MG ELLITN _ZT-_FH
A=+ —HBEEITARAHRITE
$ °

4 EREER=_ZT=_=F=A
ZT=HEZEAARRBEL
FERITES -

5 HEASBLXIR-_ZE-_F=
A-—+=HBETARE B
WITESE -

FR - AEFREZZS FHA
TEE—REZTARELE(Z
T _F:EBEE) HMHMER
EXE2EFNHMOMERER - 8T
NeERE(ZE-_—_F: A%EE)
BN & 40T

2023 2022
—E-=EF —ZE=-=
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARB T ARETT

Salaries, allowances and other

e RRREMER

benefits 1,937 261
Contribution to pension scheme BRIRE 24 65 12
Share-based payments VARR D 2 5F 2 3k 18 - 13,118

2,002 13,391
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Directors’ and five highest paid
individuals’ emoluments (Continued)

The number of non-directors, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

12.

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

EERTEREHFMAL
<= (%)

MenFTIBEERNZIFES
REHFHES Z ABNT:

Number of employees

EBEAH
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-_—
Emolument band: B & &6 E :
Nil-RMB1,000,000 T E= A R#¥1,000,0007T 4 -
RMB2,000,000-RMB2,500,000 A R #2 000,000 &
A R #2,500,0007C - 8
RMB2,500,000-RMB3,000,000 A R #2 500,0007T &
A R #3,000,0007T - 2

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of
office. None of the directors of the Company or the chief
executive of the Company waived or agreed to waived any
emolument during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

No significant transaction, arrangement and contract in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company and the
director’'s connected party had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
ant time during the year.

Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

13.

BE-_T-_=Fk=ZFT=_=
+—_A=+t—BLFE XA&EH
WERAESXESHMHALE
HEMBMS - E&MASKIA
REBERBNERBRIERKER
UHEE #H#E_ZT-_=ZFK
—E-__F+_A=+—HLHF
B BMEARARAEETHKARA
ESTBRABEREXRENE
TR % -

ARmMEIT L BAEEER
B MARREZEREEN
BMEATREFRHEBEE RN
(THERLM[E) ERAEE
R AFEAMEFEDATFE
MEMEARS  RHERAH -

RE
70N
EFEUTRANRME T

=+ -_A=+—HULEEER
HREEE(ZEZF: F) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

14. Loss per share

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
RMB97,994,000 (2022: approximately RMB76,658,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
583,661,618 (2022: 520,886,000), in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

No diluted loss per share is presented as the effect of the
Company's outstanding potential ordinary shares in relation
to share options is anti-dilutive for both years ended 31

December 2023 and 2022.
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14. BRREE

BREXNER

AXRABlBHEBEANEMLEERER
BT ERKRAGHEAE A B
FANEE LY ARE7,994,000
T(ZEZF:H AR
76,658,0007T) & F A B 1T E
3B I /Y N #E ¥ 5 £0583,661,618
[ (=Z= = —%:520,886,0000%)
TE o

BREBESE

BHE_ZT_=—Fk=FT==
+—A=+—HLFE BRAE
NEBHAEBRECEITEIIND
BEETBRARBEETZE
WEESEREETES -
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“ToZFHR FIEZERAERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Property, Plant and Equipment

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

15. ¥1% - BERRE

Furniture
Leasehold Mould and and office  Construction in
Buildings  improvement machinery ~ Motor vehicles equipment progress Total
BF HERE EARAH RE RERBARE ERIR it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AEETT ARETT ARETT AEETR ARETT ARETT
Cost A&
At 1 January 2022 R-B-Z%-5-A 30,659 17982 114,168 3233 4,455 84,849 255,246
Transfer from right-of-use assets mEREEEEAN - - - 3303 - - 3303
Disposal e - - (4,355 (1,485) - - (5,840)
Exchange differences EXZE - V&) 62 351 55 - 700
At 31 December 2022 and K-8z
1 January 2023 tZB=1-Ak
b St 3
-A-H 30,559 18,214 109,875 5,402 4510 84,849 253,409
Additions e - - 16,245 - 55 - 16,300
Disposal it & - - (16,172) (239) 0 - (16,415)
Exchange differences EXzH - a 13 89 12 - 161
At 31 December 2023 kSt 2
tZB=t-A 30,559 18,261 109,961 5,252 4513 84,849 253,455
Accumulated depreciation and ERERAE
impairment
At 1 January 2022 R=%-Z%-5-A 5409 13,097 68,563 2317 4,046 - 93432
Transfer from right-of-use assets BEREEEEN - - = 523 = = 523
Charge for the year FREH 910 2,384 12,859 297 30 - 16420
Disposal b & = = (2,861) (1,485) = = (4,346)
Exchange differences EXZE - 204 83 155 51 - 493
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-Z%
1 January 2023 tZB=1-Rk
ZE-ZF-B-H 6,319 15,685 78,644 1,41 4121 - 106,522
Charge for the year EREH 910 1,350 9,305 485 34 - 12,084
Disposal h& - - (6,618) (227) 0 - (6,849)
Exchange differences EXZE - 47 12 3 1 - 102
At 31 December 2023 K-B-=E
tZB=t-A 1228 17082 81,343 2,037 4,168 - 111,859
Carrying amounts REE
At 31 December 2023 it a3
tZBZt-8 23,330 1119 28,618 3215 405 84,849 141,596
At 31 December 2022 RZB-ZF
tZf=t-A 24,240 2529 31,231 3,655 383 84,849 146,887

As at 31 December 2023, buildings, mould and machinery
and motor vehicles with net book value totalling
approximately RMB31,826,000 (2022: approximately
RMB33,736,000) was pledged as collateral for the Group’s

borrowings (Note 26).

R—ZEE_=F+=_RA=+—
B REFEASAEOARE
31,826,000 C (= & = — F: 4
A R #33,736,0007T) B9 18 F -
BE R A KR B R
BEAEEEGRHOEA RN E
26) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HEZ

15.

16.

154

T_=F+_HA=+—HLEE

Property, Plant and Equipment
(Continued)

The Group suffered operating loss during the year, as a
result, the Group assessed the recoverable amount of
items of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets by market comparable approach. Management
selected the market transaction prices of properties and
other assets based on the locations, years of usage and
other specific features which are similar to the assets held
by the Group and made comparison of such market prices
to the carrying amounts of the Group's property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets. As at 31 December
2023, the recoverable amounts of the Group's property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets is higher than
the respective carrying amounts.

15.

Y - BENHERE)

AEERFAEIREBR
B bt A 5 B 5% A T 95 L BOERT
EOE BEERREARER
BEEREMAKREESE &
BEEREEAKSBERFRANEE
BUMBE  ERFREEM
HERB BEDXREME
ENMEX5E%8 LHEZE
MEERERNSEENYE - B
FRERBAREREEENK
HEETHLE R-_FT-_=%
tT-A=+—H XEENHY
X BEAXEALERESR
ENAREEESNEBMNEK
EfE -

Right-of-use assets 16. ERAEEE
Disclosure of lease-related items: HEMHEHEBEER:
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
At 31 December: R+=—BA=+—8:
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
— Land use rights — T b A 25,591 26,453
- Buildings -85 547 4,495
— Motor vehicles - A= - 300
26,138 31,248




16.

“ToZFHR FIEZERAERAR
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Right-of-use assets (Continued)

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

16. FREEE(E)

2023 2022
—EZ=F —Eg-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T T
Year ended 31 December BE+t-B=+—HLEFE
Depreciation charge of FREEETEEHR
right-of-use assets
- Land use rights — (s A 862 862
- Buildings -5 1,600 3,655
— Motor vehicles -"RHE 300 1,241
2,762 5,758
Lease interests HEF B 199 495
Expenses related to short-term leases £ 4% Hi 7H & 48 B8 &9 B sz 183 42
Gain on early termination of lease REXREHAEN K E 240 7
Addition of right-of-use assets ANEFREEE - 2,207
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBR SR HEE 2,237 8,127

The Group leases various land use rights, building and
motor vehicles. Lease agreements are typically made for
fixed periods of 2 to 50 years. Lease terms are negotiated
on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different
terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants and the leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Lease liabilities of RMB565,000 (2022: RMB5,008,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB547,000
(2022: RMB4,795,000) as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2022, land use rights with net book
value totalling approximately RMB25,591,000 (2022:
approximately RMB26,753,000) was pledged as collateral
for the Group’s borrowings (Note 27).

ANEEMEZHE T 0 FE A E -
BFERARE-HERENET
HREE A2E504F - HEBKK
BEREREEETHE T8
ERETRKREESE -BE
e W E M MNT AR mA
EEETSREESRBENEK
e

R-ZTE-_=ZF+—-A=+—8 "
AR®565,0000 (=T = —4F:
A R #5,008,000) WA & &
EiER ARK547,000L (=&
— —F: AR¥4,795,0007T) B
EEFERAEEEERER -

RZBEZZF+Z A=+ —
B REEFEBAFTAEAODARE
25,591,000 (= T = — F: 4
A R #26,753,0007T) &) £ b {E
AEEERIEALTEEHERD
38 G (Y 5227) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

17. Intangible assets

156

17. B EE

Trademark Software License rights Total
mE i 1T gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARET T AREFT
Cost R
At 1 January 2022 R-ZB-—-%-A—AH 1,161 471 5,901 7533
Written-off ik - - (5,901) (5,901)
At 31 December 2022, R-E--F+-A=1+-R":
1 January 2023 and “E-=f-A-BK
31 December 2023 “E_=%+-HA=1+-H 1,161 471 - 1,632
Accumulated amortisation ZFBERAEFE
and impairment losses
At 1 January 2022 W=2--%-F-H 660 446 3,615 4,721
Amortisation for the year F R 214 25 - 239
Written-off i - - (3,615) (3,615)
At 31 December 2022and HR=-FE=-=-&#+=-H=1+-H
1 January 2023 R-E-=%-f-AH 874 a7 - 1,345
Amortisation for the year FREH 214 - - 214
At 31 December 2023 RZB-=f+ZA=t-H 1,088 471 - 1,559
Carrying amount WREE
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=f+-A=+—-H 73 - - 73
At 31 December 2022 R=ZB--f+=A=+-H 287 - = 287

During the year ended 31 December 2023, amortisation
of approximately RMB214,000 (2022: approximately
RMB239,000) was charged and included in administrative

expenses.

BHE-_2-_=F+=-A=+—H
HEFEE HAR®E214,0007T (=

= — —
= _

TR A R¥239,0007T)

BEXHYFATRAX
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Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and
assets recognised by the Group.

Impairment
on Deferred
receivables revenue

EhHERE  EEAE
RMBIOOD  RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

18. IEIEF1E

AEEERANIZREEHREER
BREEMT °

Accelerated

Fair value tax

Tax loss gains of land  depreciation Total
Ti#

REER AVELE NERERE @5t

RMB0O0  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL  ARETT  ARETR  AR¥TR

At 1 January 2022 R=B-ZF-5-H 3,936 154 2,324 (2,440) 1,320) 2,654
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for ~ £RMA /(K E) EA

the year 3,601 (79 (609) 48 1,287 4,248
Exchange difference ERZEE 4 - 4 - - 82
At 31 December 2022 and RZFZZE+ZA=+-8

1 January 2023 k=%-=£-f-H 7578 75 1,756 (2,392) (33) 6,984
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss for ~ FRA /(BB EA

the year (7578) (75) (1,756) 2,392 3 (6,984)
At 31 December 2023 RZB-ZF+ZA=+-8 - - - - - -

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances
for consolidated statement of financial position purposes:

AR A B B AR O R E H A9 B T
BB OTWT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARETTT

Deferred tax assets EERIBEE - 9,409
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBBAEE - (2,425)
- 6,984

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of RMB33,258,000 (2022: RMB37,745,000)
available for set off against future profits. Deferred tax
has not been recognised in respect of such losses due to
unpredictability of future profits streams.

RHREPR AEBZAHH
i 7E &5 1B A R ¥33,258,0007C
(ZE=-=F : AR 37,745,000
Jo)c AR A RFE o AR
RERFBREEXBR  HAxE
MZEBEERELTHE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

19. Inventories 19. &

2023 2022

—E-=F —ZE=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®B TR ARB T T
Raw materials JR R 5,143 6,529
Work in progress £ 2 M 1,127 1,044
Finished goods 2K o 22,928 757
Packing materials and consumables B EM B R EFE m 1,386 9,114
30,584 17444
Less: allowance o B (6,039) (6,586)
24,545 10,858

At the end of the reporting period, the Group's inventories
were stated at net realisable value.

20. Trade receivables

RBEHR AEENFETS
RA BB FEIEK -

20. EZEWFRIE

2023 2022
—EB-=H —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTF T
Trade receivables B 5 1 WK IE 316,546 365,806
Less: provision for impairment R E R (69,180) (38,265)
247,366 327541
At the end of the reporting period, disaggregation of trade RBEHER REEFAELON
receivables from contract with customers are analysed as EoRWHENE ST T
below:
2023 2022
—s=-= —E=-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBFT
From sales of toy cars KEHEEASE 102,246 129,529
Procurement and selling of REREHERME R
raw-material and electronic parts BEFEH 145,120 198,012
247,366 327541
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

20. ESEWFIE(E)

RERREZRAHZINES
FE W R IR BR ik D AT A0 T

years:

2023 2022
—EBE-=F -

RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR T T
Less than 30 days D HR30K 35,171 217,926
31 days to 120 days 31 RE120K 204,572 30,122
121 days to 1 year 12MKE—F 19,333 107,566
1 year to 2 years —FEWMF 57,470 10,099
More than 2 years i 8 W F - 93
316,546 365,806

The Group’s credit period granted to its major customers EFAEEBFTFEZFEHNEZEH

is mainly 90-180 days. Overdue balances are reviewed

regularly by the directors.

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

T2 RI0E180H - B H A A A

EEEHEN -

BHRUKAEBEBRBENY IR :

2023 2022

—E-=F —=F- =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AREFT
At 1 January Kn—HA—H 38,265 17,099
Increase in loss allowance for the year 4F A &5 18 # 4 12 i 44,650 21,872
Amounts written off iy < %8 (14,213) (1,608)
Exchange difference fE X =% 478 902
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8H 69,180 38,265
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

20. Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables that are not impaired

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instrument” to provide for expected credit
losses using the lifetime expected loss provision for all
trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics. The expected credit losses also
incorporate forward looking information.

20. EZEWRE(E)
REERNE Z BB KE

AEBRERBEBY K ®EER
FOMHI @ T A I/ A
FREE S RWRAERE A
HBRAGtRBANEEER
B RAEEHEEERE -
féf%ﬁ’éuﬂz AHERBAZFREE
BEREHLIE - BHEEBRE
D‘ﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁli{:ﬁﬂ

Less than 31daysto 121 days to Over
30 days 120 days 1 year 1 year Total
NKE 121X %2

HH30K 120% - BR-F @t
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H
Weighted average expected loss rate BT AR HEE 4.72% 8.59% 16.85% 81.25%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) AREeEANRETT) 35,171 204,572 19,333 57470 316,546
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BEEBARETT) 1,661 175568 3,258 46,693 69,180
At 31 December 2022 R-B--%+-B=1-H
Weighted average expected loss rate~ METFHEH BER 4,61% 8.51% 14.37% 100.00%
Receivable amount (RMB'000) ThEsB(ARETT) 217926 30,122 107566 10,192 365,806
Loss allowance (RMB'000) BiEAGARETT) 10,052 2,562 15,459 10,192 38,265
The following significant changes in the gross carrying LNTESEKRFIBRAZLEN

amounts of trade receivables contributed to the increase in
the loss allowance during 2023:

- increase in trade receivables aged over 1 year resulted
in an increase in loss allowance of approximately
RMB36,501,000.

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

EXEHEHRN_T_=—FFH
Bt 8 00

- ERERBBIFNEZIEURR

TH 8 0 38 2 E 18 B 12 0
# AN R #36,501,0007T °

RBEEHR AKENESE
WHRIBTEAT B 5 E

2023 2022
—_E-=F —EF=-=

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR TR AREEF T

RMB ARE 39,535 84,171

Us$ e 102,974 281,635

HK$ BT 174,037 =

316,546 365,806
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE
Prepayments and other receivables . BEAREBERHE M ERRIE
2023 2022
—EZ=F —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB TR ARBTF T
Prepayments (note) T84 5138 (B 5F) 112,838 117813
Deposits e 5,000 5,331
Other receivables H ftb fE Y kI8 34,289 85,424
152,127 208,568
Less: non-current portion & FE I B &R
Prepayments for properties, plant and #1% « &= &R &
equipment SEENE /] (14,091) (30,336)
138,036 178,232
Less: provision for impairment R E B (382) (4,296)
137,654 173,936
Note: B &
The prepayment represents prepayments made in relation to the TERFIERERIEFER  BEER -

construction of buildings, prepayment for purchases of moulds,

packaging and raw materials.

BEEEMHIMHRMNKIEA -

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, an analysis of ECL for other RZEZ=FR=_FT=_—_F+=A
receivables is as follows: =+—H G HthEWHRENTESAE
BEBAWMMOT :
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RHERE REAE BERE
As at 31 December 2023 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
—E-=f4+=-A=+-H ARBTR ARBT R ARBT T
Stage 1 - 12 month ECL E-BBE-1nEREHEERR 1.11% 34,289 382
Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL (not credit & = E”Ex 2HBEHCERE
impaired) (BEBRMAE) - -
Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL (credit E=MEE - iﬁﬁﬁﬁm EBE
impaired) (EERE) - -
34,289 382
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21. Prepayments and other receivables . BEAREREMERRIE
(Continued) (#&)
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
BHERX EEAE BREE
As at 31 December 2022 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
WZZEZZ#+ZA=1+-H ARETT ARETT ARETR
Stage 1 - 12 month ECL E-BE-12@ABHEEER 2.75% 83,424 2,296
Stage 2 - Lifetime ECL (not credit H KB -2HRHEEER
impaired) (BEEHRME) - - -
Stage 3 - Lifetime ECL (credit E ﬂ%ﬁﬁm EE#R
impaired) (FERME) 100% 2,000 2,000
85,424 4,296
At the end of the reporting period, other receivables of the RIEHR AEE M EME
Group are denominated in the following currencies: WERIB TR AT E T E -
2023 2022
—E-=F —_F- =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
RMB AR 34,289 85,380
HK$ BT - 44

34,289 85,424
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

22. RERBEEEY

2023 2022

—E-= —E-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AR T T
Cash at banks R1TIR & 48,783 6,109
Cash on hand FERS 116 114
48,899 6,223

At the end of the reporting period, bank balances and cash
of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

RBEEHAKR AEENRTE
BIANRREIIRATERE:

2023 2022

—E-= —E- =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR T
RMB AR 331 5,987
HK$ I 48,451 203
Uss$ ETT 114 31
EUR B T 3 2
48,899 6,223

=k
Trade and other payables 23. ESRHMEMNRE

2023 2022

—E-=F —_EF-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AR F T
Trade payables B SRR 49,946 60,974
Accrued other expenses EEAEMAX 41,196 21,159
Payroll payable ERTE 3,803 5,200
Value-added tax and other tax payables 3% {& %% [z H th & < &5 18 20,848 22,453
Other payables H A RROE 171 24,979
Amounts due to shareholders (note) JE - % R SR 3B (M 3D 20,767 34,050
136,731 168,815

Note: The amounts due to shareholders are unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and repayable on demand.

e BN RRBBRERR &
AR NIZERER -
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23. Trade and other payables (Continued)

An aging analysis of the trade payables at the end of the
reporting period, based on invoice dates, is as follows:

23. BN H b B FIE (&)

RBEEHRREZAMFAED
BHRMNRBARESNWT :

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE=- =
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR® T ARETTT

Less than 30 days DL R30K 879 6,399
31 days to 120 days 31 RE120K 11,063 21,759
121 days to 1 year 12MKE—F 1,411 31,420
1 year to 2 years —FEWF 36,592 1,396

49,946 60,974

At the end of the reporting period, trade payables of the
Group are denominated in the following currencies:

REEHAR AEENEHE
MNRETRATEWFE:

2023 2022
—E-=F —ZE=-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®T ARETTT

RMB AR 32,710 32,066
HK$ BT 507 172
uss$ ETT 16,485 28,507
EUR BX 7T 244 229

49,946 60,974

24. Amount due to a related company

The amount due to a related company is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and had no fixed term of repayment.
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25.

26.

“ToZFHR FIEZERAERAR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Contract liabilities 25.

Contract liabilities relating to sales of toys are balances
due to customers under sales contracts. These arise when
deposits were received from customers before delivery of
the goods ordered according to the contract term.

There were no significant changes in the contract liabilities
balances during the reporting period.

Movements in contract liabilities:

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

BHEE

HIEEMABBENEGNEER
HEAGHNBTENEFPM&E R o
ZEBBEDIREBEENERRNT
FEl B E MR HE P IR H
o R E A o

REBEMN AN E SR
AERBH -

BHRBENES:
2023 2022
—R==F S
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR® T ARETT

Balance at 1 January R—A—Rz#&& 820 1,895
Decrease in contract liabilities as AEANBRZRBYFTAELD

a result of recognising revenue BEMREMERELNE

during the year was included in the (E-

contract liabilities at the beginning

of the period (820) (1,895)
Increase in contract liabilities as A Fﬁ uT B E YA

a result of billing in advance of ,E REMmMBREHNAE

delivery of goods ordered 30 890 820
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—Bz#&&% 890 820

The amount of billings in advance of obligation performed
is expected to be recognised as income within one year.

RETEBIRANKESHE
BABR —FRERBEA -

License fee payable 26. BEIREE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® TR ARETTT

License fee payable B EESRE
— Current - BN Hf

1,867 1,867
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27. Bank and other borrowings

166

27. SRITREMER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023 2022

—E-=F —ZE=- =
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®T R ARET T
Bank loan (secured) RITER(BEER) (i) 69,697 65,957
Other borrowings B & 3R (ii) 74,047 73,877
143,744 139,834

The borrowings are repayable as follows: B EE T3 BREE :

2023 2022
—E-= T _—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR ARET T
On demand or within one year RERIN —FRA 143,744 139,834

At the end of the reporting period, bank and other
borrowings of the Group are denominated in the following

RBEEHAR AEEHRITR
HMERATIHNEEGE:

currencies:

2023 2022

—E-=F —_ET=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T AREBF T
RMB AR #& 131,316 120,729
HK$ BT 12,428 19,105
143,744 139,834




—=F®R HIEZERERAA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27. Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

Notes:

(i) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the bank borrowings
were secured by:

(ii)

Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) and
right-of-use assets (Note 16) with net book
value approximately RMB28,387,000 (2022:
RMB29,437,000) and approximately RMB25,591,000
(2022: RMB26,753,000) respectively; and

Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Yu Huang and
Ms. Chen Cheng and certain minority shareholders of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the other borrowings

were secured by:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) with net
book value approximately RMB3,439,000 (2022:
RMB4,299,000);

Shares of the Company held by certain shareholders
of the Company; and

Personal guarantees provided by Mr. Yu Huang and
Ms. Chen Cheng and certain minority shareholders of
the Company.

The interest rates per annum at the end of the reporting period

were as follows:

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-F=+—HILEE

27. R

TR Eftb 5K (&)

i

(i)

(i)

W&

[l
[1]
ﬂ;

S
TiE KA

- + %

i
e Io gy

Wt

5+
\
A\“

- EEFEIINOARE
28,387,000 (=& = =
& A\R#¥29,437,0007T)
& # A R #25,691,000
TH(ZEZZF: AR
#26,753,0007T) ¥ % -
W E & 3% 5 (M 7E15) &
&= A # & &= (M 5%16) :
P54

= HREXRERKRE L L
AR ARRAET LD #R
RIEHOBEAER -

FEEFENABARE
3,439,000 (=T = =
F: ANR#4,299,0007T)
MW - B R (K
F£15)

= ARABETERRFTAH
ZAN/NESI SV

= mREEEMRELL
AR ARREET D EHK
REHMEAER -

SHIRMFEREMT

2023 2022
= T _F

Borrowing

variable-rate

e

Lk

2.2

5%-18.00% 2.25%-18.00%
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HE-Z_=F+_A=+—HIFE

28. Lease liabilities 28. HEGE
Present value of lease
Lease payments payments
HERX HERRBRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-Z=E —E-C —E-=E —E-=
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®TRr ARBTR AR%Tn ARETR

Within one year —FR 576 2,848 565 2,512
In the second to fifth years, F_EZERF
inclusive (BEBEME) - 2,588 - 2,496
576 5,436 565 5,008
Less: Future finance charges W RKBEER (11) (428)
Present value of lease liabilities MENHRE 565 5,008

Less: Amount due for settlement 3 : + =18 A % %I £
within 12 months AEBHTE 565 (2,512)

Amount due for settlement after +Z {8 A% 5 H

12 months REENFTIA - 2,496
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied EHRAREEBENME TS
to lease liabilities range from 2.78% to 9.90% (2022: HEBRINEXEHER278% =
2.78% to 9.90%). 9.90% (Z&FE = —_F:278% &

9.90%) °
At the end of the reporting period, lease liabilities of the RmEMR AEENHEHES
Group are denominated inn the following currencies: BT EEIR:
2023 2022
—ZB=-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARETTT

RMB ARE - 4,302
HK$ BT 565 706
565 5,008
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30.

“ToZFHR FIEZERAERAR
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Deferred revenue

Deferred revenue represents government grants received
by the Group that are related to property, plant and
equipment. These government grants are recognised as

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

29. EEN &=

ERW S EEAKE YD o E
ME - - BEREREBERBNDKN
Ml ZRERNHEDRERE

other income on a straight-line basis over the expected EMBEBHERASTA RER
lives of the related assets. ERERBEMUA o
Share capital 30. &4
Number of
ordinary Equivalent to
shares HK$'000 RMB’000
HER
LERHA TER AR¥TRL
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FH%0.00178 T &L & K
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, R-Z-—-F—fF—A8-
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 —“E_—-f+-A=t+-H-
“Z-Z4-A-Hk
“Z-_"F#+-A=1+—H 5,000,000,000 5,000 4,470
Issued and fully paid: BRTRME:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F—F—H"
and 1 January 2023 “Z-—F+-A=1+—H
k=—FE-_=F—f—H 520,886,000 521 467
Placing of shares under general mandate BE-—REERERN
(note) (Hf&E) 103,678,000 104 95
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+-A=+—H 624,564,000 625 562
Note: Bt 5

On 26 July 2023, the Company and a placing agent entered into
a placing agreement under which the placing agent agreed to

place up to 104,177,200 placing shares to placees at the placing
price of HK$0.35 per placing share (the “Placing”). The Placing
was completed on 23 August 2023 and a total of 103,678,000
placing shares was issued. The net proceeds from the Placing,
after deduction of share placing expenses of approximately
RMB329,000, are approximately RMB32,838,000. Details of the
Placing were disclosed in announcements of the Company dated
26 July 2023 and 23 August 2023.

RZBE-_=ZF+tA=-+B AR
AERRERBIVYESHE B
o BB ERIBREE M AR A K
EEEREERHKB0IBBETEE
& %104,177,2000% 2 & & % ([ &
EEH) -REFTHER_ZT=-=
FNA-+=Hxk &HBT
103,678,000k e E Ik 1p - B & =
EHREZREFRKNIBRBRNES
X 4 A R #329,000T &) B4
A R #32,838,000T - A AR ESE
BEMFBREERAARBHAZ-Z
—=ZF+tAZ+ARBERZE=_=F
NAZ+=A®R%E -
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Hfth % 5

ARENHELERASD
HRIZ IR 5 A2 K2 %
M EN ST TR

31. Other reserves 31.

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements (a)
therein are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(b) Reserves of the Company (b) EDTRKFEE
Share Other Option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R4 EE Hthide BRERE 2itER @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARET:
At 1 January 2022 R-2--%-8-H 101,378 316,030 - (52,372) 365,036
Comprehensive income EN2EKE
for the year = = = (36,286) (36,286)
Recognition of share-based BRURMZA 2 HE
payments - - 29,403 - 29,403
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-Z%
1 January 2023 +t-ZA=+-Bk
“E--f-A-H 101,378 316,030 29,403 (88,658) 358,153
Comprehensive income EN2EKE
for the year - - - (86,699) (86,699)
Placing of shares under RE-REELE
general mandate & n 33,072 - - - 33,072
Share issue expenses BRABTHEY (329) - - - (329)
At 31 December 2023 R=-B-=%
+=A=+-1H 134,121 316,030 29,403 (175,357) 304,197
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31. Other reserves (Continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the
Group

(i)

(i)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with relevant rules and regulations
in the PRC and the Company's Articles of
Association, companies incorporated in PRC
are required to transfer no less than 10% of
their profit after taxation calculated under PRC
accounting standards and regulations to the
statutory reserve fund, until the accumulated
total of the fund reaches 50% of their registered
capital. The statutory reserve fund can only be
used, upon approval by the relevant authority, to
offset previous years’ losses or to increase the
capital of respective companies.

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve
comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

31. HAtbf# 1 (&)
(c) AREGHRFHIEERM

=

(i)

(ii)

EERE

1R 3% R B9 48 BE 45 Bl &
MEKRAREZRAR
4R - R
SR AR A SR B
B & &1 2 A & # E 5T
EOHERANT DR
10% 8 # = )% & &
B HEEE% R4
HEINFMELAD
50% - A EREE &
4CHE BA 4 RE BEOE &
FARRBHARET
EREER NS A
NG = N

S RE A

IERBEFRERER
BEINFEHH B REK
RELHNMAIEZ
B-RBORESS
1 %5 ¥k 2 MY FE3FT X
Mg ERREE -
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31. Other reserves (Continued)

172

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves of the
Group (Continued)

(iii) Merger reserve

(iv)

In preparation for listing of the shares of
Kidztech Intelligent on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (“NEEQ"), a
reorganisation was conducted in 2015 among
certain group entities. Such reorganisation
resulted in combination of Kidztech Intelligent
and two other group entities which were
majority owned by Mr. Yu and Ms. Chen Cheng
(“Ms. Chen"”). The difference between the
consideration paid for the acquisitions and the
share capital of the two group entities were
recorded as merger reserve.

Option reserve

Option reserve represents the fair value of the
actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to employees of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for equity settled share-based
payments in note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

31. Ht ek (&)

(c) AEERBHEERA
= (%)

(iii) &OfEE

(iv)

EBET T ETRED
BHEZEFANEE
BhEZRA(2E
RAERAEER
mHOEME  &T&
BERR_-_ZE—0HF
BT TEH BEE
HERT T ESEE
MEEMEEREE (X
EHRLEERREL
TR ER) A
B o W BB P S (X (B R
ZMBEMERE R
BAZHBZEED R
AE i -

BRERE

B SR R T A
5 H B B 2 KT
BB 2 B B
HAFE REGA
B 75 18 % B 3 31X R
2 45 3 b BB 9 32
2 OB 0B A
HHER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Share-based payments

The Company conditionally adopted an share option
scheme on 13 February 2020 (the “Share Option
Scheme”), so as to grant options to selected participants
as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group. Given that the Directors are entitled to determine
any performance targets to be achieved as well as the
minimum period that an option must be held before an
option can be exercised on a case by case basis, and
that the exercise price of an option cannot in any event
fall below the price stipulated in the Listing Rules or
such higher price as may be fixed by the Directors, it is
expected that grantees of an option will make an effort
to contribute to the development of the Group to bring
about an increased market price of the Shares in order to
capitalise on the benefits of the options granted.

The Directors may, at its absolute discretion, grant options
to any of the following classes of participants: (a) any
employee (whether full-time or part-time including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director)
of the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the
“Invested Entity”) in which any member of the Group
holds an equity interest; (b) any non-executive directors
(including independent non-executive directors) of the
Company, any of the subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;
(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; (d) any customer of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (e) any person
or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity; (f) any shareholder of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities
issued by any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
(g) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of the business or business development of any
member of the Group or any Invested Entity; and (h) any
other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance
or other business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

32. IR F 2 FRIE

AARR—_E-_FTEF_-_A+=H
ﬁh#h% E%k%ﬁ%Uﬁ
RESTE]D LAagHhENZ
HERDBRE  AHEHKE
BREREHAESEMETR - A
#%%TEM% L EE TE AE A
BEINKRREZRBRED
ﬁﬁmzﬁ&ﬁmﬁﬂa%ﬁ pii]
tEBRENTEEEEMFNBR
TABEREMBAETENE
WK EEAREETENESER -
WM TEHEREARABE N
AEAEENBREELER
mEROME LA NEBE
EREREMSZ -

%%Tz%%F&EﬁTWE
] 48 5l B0 2 B2 25 35 R A

ZN/NETINE S O D=SIN TXKE
BEMKERARFARENE

MERB(HFREERDNEMR
ERAFKBEERE(BRITAAT
%% 1E|7F’FE¥‘ET£H§E$M?%
B) DARA - EAHEQ
ﬁ&ﬂ%&éfamﬁﬂ%ﬂ
ﬁ%%(@%?&ﬁﬁ%iﬂﬁ%%) :

o) A& B E K E R F KA
ﬁﬁ?fxéff*fmﬁ’ﬂfﬁ‘b T 3 AR 7
HEF (AXAEEEMEKER
AXEMAREEENEAE
F i (e) £ 7] &3 78 & B &9 {F fa] 5K
BRAEMMIEEEREH
M RAEXEMARMEN
Ai&ﬁ%? )R EEAEIAKE

AR EMAIREBERNEM
k%&$%lﬁﬂﬁa I
Eﬂﬁﬁ&,\,\ BRETEME
FHEFEE AN (9 AR ENEM
DR N T&Eﬂﬁhﬂf%
THEFRBEAXHERNE
AIERKEME A THER
R EREKAGEERERE -
%?%Eiﬁmxﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AEEMEREEREDLSR
MWEMEMBEALENNS2E
£ o
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32. Share-based payments (Continued) 32. URHP I 2 KIE (&)
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period AR SR EEMA R
of ten years from its effective date to 12 February 2030. SFTEZE=FF _A+-HIT

FHEEZFER -
Particulars of the Share Option Scheme of the Company ARG BERETENFBHR
are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s prospectus AXARIBHA_ZT_ZTF_H1
dated 28 February 2020. “+HNABERMBRERREEED -
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors passed BRER-_ZE-_—_F~A=+—
on 21 June 2022, it was resolved to grant an aggregate BEBHNEETEAZR" &
of 52,000,000 share options with an exercise price of R A ££52,000,0001 BB A%
HK$1.17 per share entitling certain employees to subscribe - TEERERIATE T
52,000,000 Shares of the Company. Details of the TETEEEANRIEARRQA
Company's share options are set out below: 52,000,0008% B 17 - & A A &
RERFEIBETI AT
Granted
Date of On  during the On Exercise
Name of grant of the 1 January reporting 31 December Vesting  Exercise price per
grantee share options 2022 period 2022 period period share option
R=B==f
BRERLE R-B--F RESHE +=A SHBRE
ARAREE HHE -A—H Rt =t-8 BRE TEH fTEE
HKS
BT
Employees 21 June 2022 - 52,000,000 52,000,000 N/A 21 June 2022 to 117
20 June 2032
B8 —T-Z TER —E-C
ANAZT—H ANAZT—HE
—T=F
NAZTH
During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, no Hz—_Z—-— —E-=F

share option granted was exercised, lapsed or cancelled.

All outstanding share options are exercisable at the end
of the year. As at 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
outstanding share options represents approximately 10%
and 8.33% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company,

respectively.
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Share-based payments (Continued)

The above share options at the end of the year have
an average remaining contractual life of 9.5 years. The
estimated fair value of the share options are determined
using the Binomial Option Pricing Model. The estimated
fair values and significant inputs of the model were as
follows:

Option pricing model

HEEERER

32.

e I RAR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BHE_E_=F+—_F=+—HIEFE

AR 432 7R I8 (4])

LA ERERFERNFHHET
BHFEHRILF - BRENG
AAFEDEA-_EBEARETE
BELBE B AFERR
AT EHABERSKINNAT:

Binomial

—ARX

Estimated fair vale at the measurement date
Rt E RN G AFE

No. of options granted

BERHEREHE

Estimated fair value of each option
BHERENMGFTATE

Weighted average share price at the measurement date
Rt E R MEFHRE

Exercise price

TIE(E

Exercise multiple

OREREE

Expected volatility

T8 HA R bR

Expected life

T8 HA 6F HA

Risk free rate

[, f | =X

Expected dividend yield

TE HAfR B =

The expected volatility was determined by using the
average of annualised standard deviation of daily return of
the Company'’s historical volatility quoted by Bloomberg.

Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited, an independent
firm of professional valuer, was appointed by the Company
to carry out the fair value of the share options granted
during the reporting period.

The expenses of share-based payments recognised in profit
and loss during 2023 was Nil (equivalent to HK$35,141,000)
(2022: RMB29,403,000, equivalent to HK$35,141,000).

HK$35,141,000
35,141,00078 7T
52,000,000
52,000,0001%
HK$0.676
0.67675 7T
HK$1.15
116578 7T
HK$1.17
117748 7T

2.86

2.86

63.81%
63.81%

10 years

104

3.02%

3.02%

Nil

BHMRELDERZEBABEAR
AESLRENFHFEAK
HIEEZEE -

ARBEEEBLEXMGER
NAHEGFAERIAEES
HARLOERERIFEET
fbfE -

RZZEZZ=ZF REZERND
WYz mBERY AZ(E
& 735,141,0008 T)I(ZE = =
£ A R #29,403,0007T & #HE
735,141,000/ 7T) °
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33. Notes to the consolidated statement of 33. MEBRERERKT

cash flows
Changes in liabilities arising from financing METHEENEEEF
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TR AEBEFANREEH
arising from financing activities during the year: EXNBEES:
Lease Amounts due to
Borrowings liabilities shareholders
B® HESE ENARRTE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETT ARETT
At 1 January 2022 R-—B-—f-5-8 165,278 10,285 11,721
Net changes in cash flows Ren=s2eFE (28,134) (8,085) 22,329
Non-cash changes B & &
- Write-off due to early -MERERRLE
termination FE 1 3R - (272) -
- Addition of lease liabilities -HEgEEM - 2,207 -
- Interest expenses -FERZ 10,296 495 -
~ Currency realignment - R E 2,394 378 -
At 31 December 2022 and R-®2=-Z
1 January 2023 +=-A=+-8K
—E_=%-A-H 139,834 5,008 34,050
Net changes in cash flows HeEREREFH (15,830) (2,054) (13,283)
Non-cash changes EREEE
- Write-off due to early -MEER PR ILEN
termination HIE - (2,588) -
- Interest expenses -FlEHE 14,322 199 -
- Currency realignment -ERAE 5,418 - -
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f
+=ZA=+-—H 143,744 565 20,767
34. Capital commitments 34. EAREIE
The Group's capital commitments at the end of the AEBRBFEHRNE RN E
reporting period are as follows: wmR
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-_F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR F T
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERKZE
- Contracted but not provided for - BRTA B RIEBE 17,440 17,440
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HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

35. RATE AR R E

Company
2023 2022
—E-=F —=F- -
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR TR AR F T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in a subsidiary "E—HHB2AR 262,604 316,417
Current assets REEE
Other receivables 8 U 3k IE 638 879
Amounts due from subsidiaries & U T B A R] 5K 1B 34,607 80,431
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEEY 48,473 6
83,718 81,316
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals expenses FEETR X 29,373 25,670
Other borrowing RN 12,190 13,443
41,563 42,203
NET ASSET EERE 304,759 358,622
Capital and reserves B E
Share capital RN 562 467
Reserves & 304,197 358,153
TOTAL EQUITY EaEm 304,759 358,620
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
el = -~ 5 =S FF

36. Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the

Company

The table below lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the financial position of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in

particulars of excessive length.

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022

and 2023 are set out below.

Place of incorporation/
registration/operation and

36. XRREEMNBLARFESE

TREINEEZRBRYUAFEE
BEEEXESAEAKAERY
RN S 0 NN U S
RA - EERA - EHEMM
BRAMNFREERATERTT
£ o

AEBR_ZE_—_FR-_FT_=
—BHHETEHBA

F+-_A=+
BIIATE o
Percentage of the

Company's indirect Principal

Name Note nature of legal entity ownership interest activities
HRARE
AMHYL/ B/ 2811/ BEEAR
%R EEANRERRRNE HRRA LY IEED
Direct  Indirect
B B
Kidztech (BVI) Limited BV, Limited liability company UsDt 100% - Investment holding
FLEARRAHBARDA ZBRAES BEREELD 1x% REER
Kidztech Cultural Technology (BVI) Limited BVI, Limited liability company 1SD50,000 - 51%  Investment holding
AERLES EREANA  S0003T REZRK
Kidztech (Chinal Intelligent Technology Hong Kong, Limited liability HKS!1 - 100%  Investment holding
Co., Limited company 187 RERR
FLEMR)BRHRERAA Bk BRREAT
Shantou Kidztech No. 1 Technology The PRC, wholly foreign owned - - 100%  Investment holding
Consulting Co., Ltd. enterprise RERR
TRt E-SRERATEERAR RE O HEBELE
Shantou Kidztech No. 2 Technology The PRC, domestic enterprise RMB1,103,254 - 100%  Investment holding
Consulting Co, Ltd. hEERLE AE #1103, 2547 REER
AETELE-SHRARTRERAT
Kidztech Intelligent The PRC, wholly foreign owned ~ RMB78,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing and sales of
BTERH enterprise AR 78,000,000 foys
T NEBELR TARERHE
Kidztech HK Hong Kong, Limited liability HKD500,000 - 100%  Export of toys
BATLE company 50,0007 1T AN
R EREMAR
Shenzhen Kidztech Internet Technology Co., Ltd. The PRC, Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Sales of toys through
FIFTEERANHERAA company AR%5,0000007 e-commerce channels
P AREEAT RRETHREERENA
Shenzhen Kidztech Internet of Things Technology Co., The PRC, Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Research, development, and
Lt company AR %5,000,0007 sales of smart hardware
RFTENRARRERLT RE FREEAT BRRAMEREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a)  Shantou Kidztech No. 1 Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. is
a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC
with registered capital of RMB1,000,000, which was yet to
be paid up as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(b)  Shantou Kidztech No. 2 Technology Consulting Co., Ltd. is a
domestic enterprise established in the PRC with registered
capital of RMB111,428,571. As at 31 December 2023 and
2022, RMB110,325,317 of the registered capital was yet to
be paid up.

(c) Kidztech Infotech is a domestic enterprise established in
the PRC with registered capital of RMB96,000,000. As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, RMB12,660,000 of the
registered capital was yet to be paid up.

Contingent liabilities

During the course of business, the Group has been involved
in litigations initiated by various vendors concerned with
contract disputes and repayment of debts. Some of the
litigations have been concluded by the court and/or settled,
while some of the litigations are still pending judgement.
Since the Group has already accounted for these payables
in the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are of the view that these litigations will not have any
significant financial impact to the Group.

Approval of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June
2024.

RE R R aR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-_Z-_=F+-F=+—HILEE

36. ANAEBMBEATFE

37.

38.

(%)
B

(@ JWEWmHLE—REEZF
ERAAZR—REHRBREK L
MEBELE TMEX
& A R #1,000,0007T © =
TR =FRITEF+=
B=+—HBHKR&RE -

() JBETmHF L E-—RHMEAN
BERAFZE-KEFBEKL
s A [T S

At EERAE A
R #111,428,5715c c R = &
—=FRZZZE-_=_F+=A
=+—H  AK®%110,325,317
THEMERERBRE °

(00 BITEEFEERHE—XREH
BRYMEANCE &
N A& AN R #96,000,0007T °
RZEBE-_=ZFKR=_F ==
F+-_A=+—"HBH AR¥
12,660,0007T H & fit & 2N &

RBR -
RAREE
AREBREEBREYEESZ
R 3 JE?MLC.,U M‘&fﬁk
BERBZFR - LFRE
EE/H?E HEERK MR T
DFEBMBEFH R - ARANE

lEHﬁEﬁiFéHmIﬁE{‘ﬁ/\ 2
BRERPAR  REEFRRZX
FHAB T eHAKEELE

<F A

AEAMEHE -
#ESR S MBRE

HAMBRREN_-_FT_MNF
NAZTABEEZ=SHER
RETE -
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FFHBERE
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-= - —T-_—F —TFF T—NEF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETRT ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Results ES
Revenue gz 131,409 169,431 283,843 295,913 325,800
(Loss)/profit before B B 15 % AU
income tax (B518),/ & F (91,358) (82,086) 31,722 32,947 48,380
Income tax credit/ FEHEE,/
(expenses) (A%) (6,936) 5,428 (5,636) (8,804) (12,935)
(Loss)/profit for the year &R (E18), /3% 7l (98,294) (76,658) 26,086 24,143 35,445
As at 31 December
R+=B=+—-H
Assets and Liabilities EER&E
Total assets BEBE 64,362 736,725 780,994 670,546 524,722
Total liabilities BEEE (303,454) (338,375) (339,321) (247,004) (223,825)
Net assets BEFE 336,908 398,350 441,763 423,542 300,897
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